
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 8 July 2014 
7.00 pm 

Small Hall - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition Co-optees 

Councillor Caroline Needham 
(Chair) 
Councillor Alan De'Ath 
Councillor Natalia Perez 
Shepherd 
 

Councillor Caroline Ffiske 
Councillor Donald Johnson 
 

Eleanor Allen, London 
Diocesan Board for 
Schools 
Philippa O'Driscoll, 
Westminster Diocesan 
Education Service 
Representative 
Nadia Taylor, Parent 
Governor 
Representative 
Vacancy, Parent 
Governor 
Representative 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Laura Campbell 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 8753 2062 
 E-mail: laura.campbell@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 
 

Date Issued: 30 June 2014 



  
 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Children and Education  
Policy and Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

8 July 2014 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.  
 

 

3. MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE  1 - 5 

 The Committee is asked to note its membership and terms of reference 
as attached. 
 

 

4. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR   

 The Committee is asked to elect a Vice Chair from amongst its 
membership for the 2014/15 Municipal Year. 
 

 



5. PASSENGER TRANSPORT SERVICE  
 

6 - 23 

 To discuss the arrangements of the passenger transport service. 
 
The Committee will hear from members of the public and parents 
present at the meeting in respect of how the arrangements are working. 
 

 

6. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 

 

 To invite questions from members of the public present.  
 
Members of the public with more complex issues are invited to submit 
their questions in advance in order to allow a more substantive answer 
to be given. Questions can be sent to the contact officer shown on the 
front page of the agenda.  
 

 

7. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S UPDATE  
 

24 - 31 

 To note the Executive Director’s update. 
 

 

8. SAFEGUARDING AND LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN 
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION REPORT ON ACTIVITY DURING 
2013-14  
 

32 - 48 

 This report summarises the performance of the local authority in relation 
to outcomes for children in need of protection and for looked after 
children for the year ending 31 March 2014. The report provides a tri-
borough perspective where this information is available. 
 

 

9. THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REQUIREMENTS IN THE 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES ACT FROM SEPTEMBER 2014  
 

49 - 79 

 The report highlights the proposals within part three of the Children and 
Families Act which represent some of the most significant changes to 
the way that services are delivered for young people with special 
educational needs (SEN) in the past 30 years. 
 

 

10. WORK PROGRAMME  
 

80 - 95 

 To discuss the work programme for the forthcoming meetings. 
 

 

11. DATES OF NEXT MEETINGS   

 The meetings of the Committee for this municipal year are as follows: 
 
Wednesday 3 September 2014 
Wednesday 5 November 2014 
Monday 12 January 2015 
Tuesday 10 February 2015 
Monday 20 April 2015 

 

 



 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION  
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
8 JULY 2014 

 

MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

Report of the Director of Law 
  

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Information 
 
Key Decision:  No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Jane West, Executive Director of Finance and 
Corporate Governance 
 

Report Author: Laura Campbell, Committee Co-
ordinator 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2062 
E-mail: 
laura.campbell@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1  The report sets out the membership of this Committee and its terms of 
reference, as agreed at the Annual Council Meeting held on 16 June 
2014.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 The Committee is asked to note its membership and terms of reference. 
 
3.  INTRODUCTION 

 
3.1 The Council agreed the membership and terms of reference at the Annual 

Council Meeting held on 16 June 2014. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



4. MEMBERSHIP 
 

4.1   The membership of this committee is as follows: 
 

Five voting Councillors including the Chair and Vice Chair in the ratio of 3 
Administration members and 2 Opposition members.  
Councillor Caroline Needham (Chair) 
Councillor Alan De’Ath 
Councillor Natalia Perez Shepherd  
Councillor Caroline Ffiske 
Councillor Donald Johnson  
 
Co-optees 
Each Policy and Accountability Committee may co-opt a number of people 
in a non-voting capacity. 
 
Education representatives 
The Children and Education Policy and Accountability Committee shall 
include in its membership the following voting representatives, who will be 
entitled to vote on any education matters. These representatives shall not 
vote on any other matters, though they may stay in the meeting and 
speak.  

(a) 1 Church of England diocese representative; 

(b) 1 Roman Catholic diocese representative; 

(c)  2 parent governor representatives. 

Education Representatives may also attend and vote at any other Policy 
and Accountability Committee that is dealing with education matters. 

 
4.2 A further report on the appointment of co-opted members will be 

considered at the September meeting of this committee. 
 

5. TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
5.1  Introduction 

 
5.1 Policy & Accountability Committees (PACs) will develop key policies for 

the Council on behalf of and with residents and community groups and 
hold the Executive to account.   
 

5.2  All PACs will discharge the relevant statutory functions within the scope of 
the Committee.  

 
5.3 All PACs will have the following key responsibilities:  

• To hold the Cabinet to account 

• To be a critical friend to the Cabinet and to challenge the assumptions 
behind the policies and actions of the Council and other local service 
providers 

Page 2



• To amplify the voice and concerns of local residents and to give 
residents a mechanism to comment on, participate in and determine 
Council policy 

• To improve the Council’s services by listening to residents and user 
groups 

• To scrutinise decisions made by partner organisations in the interest of 
the residents of the Borough 

• To be independent of party politics and ensure an informed evidence-
based approach to policy development  

 
5.4 PACs may also co-opt non-voting additional members to ensure residents 

and users’ groups are fully represented.  Only statutory co-optees will 
have voting rights.  All co-opted members will be able to participate fully in 
all meetings and have the same access to information as elected 
members.  

 
5.5 Each PAC will maintain a work programme of policies and issues identified 

by the PAC members to be investigated, analysed and understood prior to 
making recommendations to decision-makers. PACs may receive 
evidence from experts and user groups either in writing in advance or 
verbally at meetings.  

 
5.6 All PACs may compel Council officers and Executive members to attend 

meetings as required and can expect to receive written evidence as 
requested.  

 
5.7 Where appropriate, PAC members may conduct research outside of 

formal meetings and make site visits as required.  
 
5.8 When considering major cross-cutting issues that impact upon the work of 

more than one PAC, PACs may meet concurrently to receive evidence in a 
joint session. Following such meetings, reports may be published as joint 
reports or as separate responses. Alternatively, for major cross-cutting 
issues that impact the work of more than one PAC or require detailed 
attention, PACs may appoint sub-committees or task groups to examine 
the particular issue.  

 
5.9 Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be known in Hammersmith & 

Fulham as the PACs. 

Page 3



 

CHILDREN & EDUCATION POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE  
 

Members: 
 
Five voting councillors 

Quorum: 
 
Three Members of the Committee 
 

Political proportionality: 
 
3 Administration members  
 
2 Opposition members.   

Co-opted Members: 
 
Statutory with voting rights on 
Education matters: 
 
2 Parent Governor representatives 
(one vacancy) 
2 diocese representatives 
 
Non-statutory without voting rights: 
 
(to be confirmed)  

 
Principal Functions 

All the powers of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in section 
21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007.  
 

• To develop policy within the scope of the Committee and make 
recommendations to the Cabinet 

• Monitor the administration and spending in services within its scope 

• To review the impact of decisions and policies implemented by the 
Council  

• Lead responsibility for scrutinising the relevant Cabinet Members(s). 
 

Scope: 

• the education of children and young people in the borough 

• the authority's functions in its capacity as education authority 

• Special Educational Needs 

• the authority's social services functions as they relate to children  

• Safeguarding  

• Child protection 

• Children in care 

• Children and young people leaving care 

• the education and children’s services budgets including social care 

• the Employee-Led Mutual (3BM) 

• any other matter allocated by the Finance & Delivery PAC 
 
 

 
 

Page 4



 
 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 

Page 5



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
8 JULY 2014 

 

 
PASSENGER TRANSPORT SERVICE  
 

 
Report of the Tri-borough Executive Director of Children’s Services  
 

 
Open Report 
 

Classification - For Review & Comment 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Andrew Christie, Tri-borough Executive Director of 
Children's Services 
 

Report Author: Ros Morris, Tri-borough Head of Children’s 
Specialist Commissioning  
 

Contact Details: 

Tel: 020 7938 8337  

E-mail: 
Ros.Morris@rbkc.gov 
  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to: 

• To provide information about the Borough’s passenger transport 
service 

• To provide information and update regarding the mobilisation of the 
contracts and the implementation of the new service 

• To report the actions being taken forward 

• To provide an overview of the Lessons Learnt thus far. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1   The Committee is asked to review and comment on the report making any 
recommendations as appropriate. 

 
 

 

Page 6

Agenda Item 5



 
 

3. BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT 
 
3.1   The scope of the Tri-borough operations addressed in this report principally 

comprises the following: 

• Passenger transport for Adult Services clients, comprising travel to 
and from day centres and adult education centres and other 
locations, along with ad-hoc journeys to activities and 
appointments 

• Home to school travel for Special Educational Needs (SEN) 
children 

• General transport for LAC to contact visits, activities and 
appointments 

 
3.2  From 2010, the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham (LBHF) had 

been reviewing and considering the potential options of a fully contracted out 
service for their passenger transport services for both Children’s and Adults 
Services.  The provision of passenger transport in Children’s and Adults 
Services for The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) was 
previously provided by Crystals. This had been a 7 year contract that was 
originally due to expire in December 2013. In addition, Westminster City 
Council (WCC) had contracts for comparable services that were due to expire 
in August 2013.  

 
3.3  The above provided the opportunity to explore the benefits of a Tri-borough 

approach to the delivery of passenger transport services. It was felt that a 
combined approach and joint procurement, not only across the 3 boroughs but 
also across both Children’s and Adults services would have a number of 
potential and quality advantages, including the benefits of cross borough 
routes, reduced management overheads, greater procurement scale and 
value for money from contracts compared with the option of each borough 
acting alone. This would have the potential for greater cost efficiencies and 
would ensure that affordable travel arrangements can be made available to 
eligible children and adults in the longer term, at a time when council funding 
was coming under increasing pressure. A combined passenger transport 
service for SEN children also fitted very much with the strategy for the overall 
delivery of SEN services across the 3 boroughs. In addition, each council had 
different arrangements for the management of their passenger transport 
services. LBHF ran a managed service; WCC contracted out the management 
of their existing contract; RBKC had in-house contract management 
arrangements. 
 

3.4   As shown in the tables below, financial analysis undertaken at the time 
indicated that all 3 boroughs had costs significantly above the average for 
comparable boroughs providing comparable services. It was therefore 
anticipated that savings could be made across all service areas whilst 
delivering the same standard of provision or increased quality where required. 

 
Children’s Services Costs per Head 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



 
 

 
Adults Services Costs per Head: 

 
 

3.5  It was therefore proposed to each of the Cabinet Members for Adult Services 
and Children’s Services across all 3 boroughs that a Tri-borough approach 
should be taken to procure Tri-borough contracts for transport operations, 
which would include reaching a formal agreement on the approach, relevant 
joint policies, service specifications and a transport route rationalisation 
exercise required to support the procurement exercise.  It was identified that 
this approach would support and extend the current co-operation in place 
between the boroughs. It was also proposed to generate an identified Tri-
borough governance team and governance processes to act as an effective 
sponsoring and decision making body for the programme in its entirety. It was 
recognised that timelines for the procurement project would be very 
demanding given the expiry timescales of current contracts and would require 
effective governance and management to be successful. 

 
3.6  It was therefore agreed via a Cabinet Member Report in September 2012 to 

progress work on a Tri-borough basis for the collaboration on transport 
operations and joint procurement of transport management and taxi/bus 
framework contracts for passenger transport provision, to take effect in phases 
from August 2013. 

 
3.7  Following the above agreement, the Passenger Transport Programme Board 

was established and officer governance agreed. Consultants were tendered 
for and appointed (Agilisys) to support work on the business case, target 
operating model and contract specification. 

 
4. Procurement Process 
 
4.1. The procurement was carried out by WCC’s Corporate Procurement Team. A 

competitive procurement exercise commenced on 20 September 2012. We 
were cognisant of the need to provide a high level of quality and reliability for 
service users and therefore the procurement process was split into two parts. 
The tenders were evaluated on the most economically advantageous tender 
basis.  The evaluation criteria contained a number of pass/fail criteria which 
related to quality so that if a tender did fail any such criteria, it would not have 
been successful and would not have been considered further.  Overall the 
evaluation criteria was weighted 70% for price and 30% for quality. 
 

4.2. The agreement to the recommended operating model and to proceed to 
invitation to tender was given by Cabinet on 14 January 2013. 

 

Page 8



 
 

4.3. The Invitation to tender process was used to set up a framework agreement 
with suppliers who had demonstrated their capability of meeting our 
transportation requirements. We called off this Framework as and when 
required using mini-competitions between the contractors who had been 
admitted to the Framework Agreement; the call-off contracts were awarded on 
the basis of price only.  The quality of service required was set out in the call 
off contracts and consequently contractors were and are obliged to provide the 
services that quality.  The price only evaluation therefore was an evaluation of 
the prices tendered to provide the services to the contractually required quality 
standard.  In order to ensure value for money to the three authorities, the 
various destinations were organised into bundles and the suppliers priced per 
bundle of work. 

 
4.4. The original procurement proposed three Lots: Lot 1a - Mini Buses; Lot 1b – 

Taxis; Lot 2 - Transport Management; Lot 3 - Mini Buses, Taxis and Transport 
Management combined. Following the procurement process, the 
competitiveness of proposals for Lot 2 and Lot 3 proved not to offer value for 
money. It was subsequently agreed that an in house Transport Management 
provision would provide greater control as well as being more economically 
advantageous. 

 
4.5. Agreement to award to the framework for Lot 1A and Lot 1B (mini bus and taxi 

operators) was given by Cabinet on 22 July 2013. It was also agreed not to 
award to Lot 3 (award together of Lots 1 and 2) and review the decision with 
regard to Lot 2 (outsourced transport management). 

 
4.6. Healthcare and Transport Services Ltd (HATs), Westway, CT PLUS, Amey 

and Radio Taxis were included on the Tri-borough Framework Agreement. 
Minibus requirements were called off for HATs, CT PLUS and Westway. Taxi 
requirements were called off for HATs and Radio Taxis. 

 
4.7. As is common practice, because only 56% of the bundles were let from the 

Tri-borough Framework, another Framework Agreement was also used to call-
off those requirements where the suppliers on the Tri-borough Framework 
were not inclined to bid for various reasons. This other Framework Agreement 
had been created by the West London Alliance (WLA) and we added Star Bus, 
Impact and IHS to our list of Tri-borough suppliers from the WLA framework 
agreement.  

 
4.8. The procurement exercise for the WLA Framework was led by the London 

Borough of Brent.  At the PQQ stage, questions were asked and all relevant 
details were obtained in respect of the organisations bidding and any directors, 
partners or any other person who has powers of representation, decision or 
control.  In addition, as part of the process to establish the framework, rigorous 
checks were also made with regard to the financial standing of the bidders and 
references were taken up from local authorities and others for whom the 
companies had undertaken work for.  The procurement activity therefore by 
WCC through Call-Off awards from the WLA Framework focussed on the 
provision of the service and the suppliers’ ability to carry out the services 
required. 
 
 

Page 9



 
 

4.9. However, in addition to the normal checks carried out at PQQ and ITT stage of 
the process to award the Framework Agreement, which include substantial 
financial and safeguarding checks, we carried out a number of additional due 
diligence actions in respect of those operators appointed to the Tri-borough 
Framework: 
• Sharpe Pritchard, Westminster’s contract legal advisers, checked for 

County Court judgments against the providers; 
• five references were received for each provider (as opposed to the usual 

three) from existing customers (in HATS’ case, these were three local 
authorities and two hospital trusts); 

• appropriate credit checks were made; 
• Westminster Finance re-checked all finance and credit scores; 
• the availability of licences of all providers were checked with the Vehicle 

and Operator Services Agency (VOSA), the relevant regulatory body, as 
were records on public inquiries involving any of the providers. 

 
4.10. As a result of our additional research into providers, we established that an 

inquiry in January 2013 into Olympic South (trading as Healthcare and 
Transport Services or HATS) conducted by the Traffic Commissioner in his 
capacity within VOSA, placed restrictions on the size of the operation due to 
management concerns, specifically the number of vehicles that could be 
operated (reduced number from 100 to 40 licences).  

 
4.11. We commissioned a specialist transport consultancy to advise us and to 

review an independent audit report by the Freight Transport Association 
regarding HATS. This was positively reviewed in June and showed significant 
progress and improvement. In December 2013 the VOSA inspected HATS 
and re-awarded an additional 30 licences on the basis that it had satisfactorily 
addressed the issues considered by the inquiry.  
 

4.12. We conducted further more recent financial checks on all the selected 
providers in order to ensure that the suppliers chosen were financially robust 
and secure.  The checks did not identify any reason why we should not enter 
into contract with these operators. 

 
5. COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT 
 
5.1   Prior to the Tri-borough Passenger Transport project, there had been some 

earlier consultation in June 2010 with 115 parents and head teachers in LBHF 
regarding the potential outsourcing of the then in-house service. The views 
and outcomes from this early consultation helped inform the Tri-borough 
procurement specifications. 
 

5.2  Communications were led by the Programme Board in consultation with and 
supported by the media team in the 3 boroughs. The importance of 
communicating with parents, carers and service users was considered by the 
Programme Board at every stage of the work. At the time, it was considered 
important to balance the timing of such communications, in terms of having 
some degree of certainty in the information being provided and not raising 
anxieties and expectations many months before any changes might happen. 
 
 

Page 10



 
 

5.3  Children’s Services: meetings took place with several head teachers in July 
2013 in order to understand from them the needs of children, parents and 
schools and to understand what was good and less good regarding transport 
arrangements at the time. 
 

5.4  Direct and specific communication was then undertaken with parents from 
January 2014 once there was certainty as to contract awards. It was important 
that parents did not hear of things third hand or that some parents heard of the 
changes before others. Additionally, information to adult service users, 
affected in-house staff and existing contractors (and their staff) needed to be 
co-ordinated and released all at the same time. There were also briefings at 
this time with head teachers, day centre managers and parent forum 
representatives. 
 

5.5  Communications with parents consisted of written letters and face to face 
meetings. From January 2014, a dedicated phone line and email address were 
in place with a team of workers to manage enquires from parents and service 
users. 
 

5.6  The first letter to all parents informing them of changes to home to school 
transport was sent on 29 January 2014. The second letter was sent on 27 
February 2014 informing of the dates for parents’ meetings. Parents’ groups 
and Head Teachers also received copies of the communications that were 
sent. 
 

5.7  Open meetings for parents were held in 3 special schools across the boroughs 
and one at the Isaac Newton Centre. These were held in February and March 
2014. The meetings were attended by the Project Manager, the interim 
Transport Manager and a senior manager of the SEN Service. There were 
also meetings during the period with the Parents Active at the Masbro Centre 
and with the Special School Heads Meeting. Information was provided 
regarding the reasons for the changes in transport provision and what parents 
could expect going forward. A number of questions and anxieties were raised 
by parents and both general issues and matters relating to individual children 
were followed up from the meetings. Parents were understandably anxious to 
know who their drivers and escorts would be and whether some of these could 
remain the same. 
 

5.8  In conjunction with the planning of the routes (see 6.5), the operators were 
requested to provide to parents details of the drivers and escorts at least 2 
weeks prior to the end of the Easter term. In a number of cases, this 
information was unfortunately provided to parents far later than the above 
timescale. There were a number of reasons for this, but principally the impact 
of prolonged TUPE negotiations between outgoing and incoming contractors 
and therefore very late confirmation of actual staffing details. 
 

5.9  A third letter to parents went out on varying dates between 24 March and 11 
April 2014. This letter informed them of their new provider and pick up and 
drop off times for their children. Included in this letter was a travel profile leaflet 
explaining the new service and what parents could expect in relation to 
standards of the new service. Contact details for the new operator and for the 
Transport Commissioning Team were also included.  
 

Page 11



 
 

6. Planning and Mobilisation 
 
6.1. In October 2013, consultants were tendered for and appointed (Edge 

Consultants) to develop and deliver the plan for the mobilisation of the 
transport operators and to manage the transition between existing and new 
provision. 

 
6.2. The Programme Board recognised the importance of ensuring information 

about each child’s travel arrangements was used to inform the organisation of 
new routes, the allocation of suitable transport arrangements and the 
deployment of staff with skills matched to children’s needs. In order to ensure 
the match of transport with a child’s needs in a fair and consistent way, the 
following stages were undertaken: 

 
6.3. Between May – September 2013, the project team collated a list and 

information regarding all children with a statement of SEN and who had home 
to school transport from across the 3 boroughs. The information was collated 
from the SEN service and existing providers. The information included general 
data e.g. age and contact details; individual child’s needs including mobility; 
current transport arrangements including type and the reasons for this. There 
was ongoing analysis and updating of data. 

 
6.4. Once the above collation was completed, destination bundles were organised 

in order to Call Off the Framework. This occurred from September 2013 
onwards with the contracts then being awarded in January 2014. 
 

6.5. Once the contracts had been awarded, the routes could then be planned by 
the new operators on the basis of the information provided and which met the 
contractual requirement of no journey being longer than 60 minutes. During 
March 2014, school staff supported the project team and new operators with 
the checking of the collated data and students’ preferences. A number of 
anomalies were identified at this stage, including whether children were 
wheelchair users or required other specialist equipment. It became evident at 
this stage that collated information was not as accurate as it needed to be, 
including that which had been provided by existing contractors and that held 
by the SEN service. In attempts to rectify, operators met with school staff 
during the last week of the spring term to review the collated information and 
sense check this in terms of children’s needs, groupings and the allocated 
transport. 

 
6.6. The new operators undertook trial runs of the routes to form the basis of their 

proposed collection and drop off times. Unfortunately these trial runs had to be 
undertaken without the expert knowledge of the incumbent TUPE staff as they 
were not made available to the new operators by the existing operators prior to 
the start of the new service. 

 
6.7. As mentioned in 4.4, following the procurement process, it was subsequently 

agreed that an in house Transport Management provision would provide 
greater control as well as being more economically advantageous. A 
dedicated in-house Tri-borough Transport Commissioning Team (TCT) was 
therefore established prior to the launch of the new service. The main 
responsibilities of this team are: to process new requests for transport; to 
provide a single point of contact for any service user needing to notify their 

Page 12



 
 

Council of any change of requirement or concern about service delivery; to 
maintain accurate and up to date data; to exert stringent oversight of the 
contractors; to monitor their performance; and ensure that required standards 
are met. This is a new arrangement which, we believe, will be an 
enhancement to previous arrangements for service users, and ensure that the 
Councils get better value for money from their contracts. It is the responsibility 
of the TCT to now hold up to date, accurate and detailed data in respect of 
both children and adult users of the passenger transport service.  The TCT will 
be the repository where the information about each service users’ 
requirements will be kept.  This will mean that in the future should there be any 
contractual changes any new provider can be better informed of individual 
requirements. 
 

7. Service Implementation 
 
7.1. The new transport arrangements are meeting the daily transport requirements 

across the 3 boroughs for: 

• 720 children with special educational needs 

• Up to 500 children in care, as and when required 

• 280 – 300 vulnerable adults. 
 

The breakdown of the SEN numbers are: 

• LBHF - 263 

• WCC – 294 

• RBKC - 174 
 

The operation is transporting children to and from 122 schools and involves 
162 separate routes. 
 

7.2. The new transport arrangements went live from 22 April, in line with the start 
dates of the school summer term, with the service being fully operational by 30 
April. It was always expected that the launch of the new service would be 
challenging and difficult given that providers were being changed across 3 
boroughs as well as establishing new route networks across the 3 boroughs. 

 
7.3. Home to School Transport: during the first 2 weeks of operation, there were 

a number of operational challenges experienced and we recognise and 
acknowledge that the mobilisation of the new transport arrangements has 
been problematic for some parents and children. These difficulties have 
included: children being picked up late, journeys being longer than they should 
be and then arriving late at school; the correct equipment not being available 
for a small number of children e.g. harnesses; concerns from individual 
parents at the point of pick up regarding the type of transport allocated to their 
child; change in escort and quality of escorts, particularly in relation to 
children’s medical needs; parents’ concern that they were unable to contact 
operators when there were difficulties.  

 
7.4. The above difficulties and concerns arose for a number of reasons. The 

majority of the contractors had not previously provided a service in this 
geographical area, and it took some of the drivers some time to become 
familiar with the routes. Unfortunately, as outlined in 6.5, it had also become 
apparent that the information held about children and vulnerable adults by 
social care and special educational needs teams was not complete in some 

Page 13



 
 

cases. Much of this information was held by the previous operators who were 
not very willing to hand it over. Indeed, perhaps understandably, they were 
generally not very willing to co-operate with either us or the new contractors. 
The former operators' failure to co-operate also manifested itself in an 
unwillingness to assist in the TUPE arrangements. This again meant that it 
was only very late in the day that the contractors knew who would be 
transferring to work for them. In fact in some cases this only became clear 
when staff failed to turn up for work.  
 

7.5. The TCT and SEN service have worked very closely with schools during the 
early implementation stage. For the first few days of the new contracts for 
each school, there were significant concerns reported by them regarding the 
lateness of buses and particularly how long some of the children were on 
buses. However after the initial few days of each of the new contracts, the 
main school bus routes have began to settle into a more reliable routine, as 
the drivers have become familiar with the routes. Late running journeys have 
reduced from the high percentage in the first 2 weeks to less than 5% currently 
being reported. The 2 continuing particular areas of concern for schools are in 
relation to the quality and consistency of escorts and drivers and the difficulty 
for both schools and parents in being able to contact drivers and escorts 
direct. Schools report that where escorts are becoming consistent, they are 
becoming more confident in their roles and are developing required skills. 
Schools have worked in close partnership with the operators and have been 
instrumental in assisting to achieve improvements, with some schools helpfully 
providing specialised training to escorts, enhancing the statutory minimum 
requirements. Some schools have also noted to us that whilst a number of 
parents had issues with some earlier pick up times and slightly longer 
journeys, most of them are starting to adapt to the changes. 

 
7.6. During these early stages, both the TCT and the operators have attempted to 

respond to parents and others and resolve concerns as quickly as possible. 
However, we acknowledge that in the initial weeks, these arrangements did 
not work well enough. All concerns regarding the type of transport allocated or 
the needs of specific children have been worked through in conjunction with 
colleagues from the SEN service in order to ensure robust consistency is 
applied in respect to authorisation of any changes to provision where required. 

 
7.7. Since the publication of the proposed route lists in April, of the 263 LBHF SEN 

children being transported, several individual transport arrangements have 
been reviewed with 2 LBHF reviewed cases resulting in a change in transport 
arrangements. These reviews were carried out either because of parental 
representation or because the early experiences of the operators which 
suggested some children were not adapting well to the new arrangements. In 
addition to the individual reviews, 2 routes have also been split due to the 
length of the journeys. 

 
7.8. A number of issues of concern that have been brought to our attention, relate 

to changes that have been made in policy replacing what has been custom 
and practice in relation to the type of travel arrangements provided, rather than 
the quality of the service. In order to achieve the savings which enable 
sustainable efficient provision of passenger transport services for the most 
vulnerable children and adults, transport operators have been commissioned 
to plan the bus routes and taxi provision in the most efficient way possible. 

Page 14



 
 

Some children have, as a consequence experienced a change from taxi to 
minibus or a change to a different route which involves being picked up at a 
new and perhaps less convenient time for parents.  

 
7.9. The arrangements in place prior to the new Tri-borough passenger transport 

contracts had developed piecemeal over many years. Consequently, while 
decisions about children’s eligibility were fairly consistent across the 3 
boroughs and have not been altered in this process, the commissioning of 
their travel arrangements was not. Historic custom and practice in this respect, 
in particular in Westminster, and to a lesser extent in Kensington and Chelsea 
was such that there was an over-reliance on transportation by taxi and more 
generally children were added to existing transport, without any strategic 
review of transport routes. The result of the approach was not only increased 
costs but also increased congestion outside schools. However, where such 
changes (taxi transport being replaced by buses) have been made, we have 
given very careful consideration to any subsequent representations made by 
parents or schools, if they think their child’s needs cannot be met in this way. 

 
7.10. Since the beginning of the new service, a total of 87 substantial enquiries / 

concerns have been received and responded to.  These have been in relation 
to:  timings, lateness and length of journey; consistency of escort and driver; 
lack of communication from operators to parents.  There have been no formal 
complaints received concerning children resident in LBHF regarding home to 
school transport.  2 Councillor/MP enquiries have been received.  

 
7.11. Looked after children: the majority of passenger transport requirements for 

LAC are for single occupancy taxis whilst a small number are transported on 
buses that attend SEN schools. Passenger transport is arranged for individual 
children identified by Children’s Services across the three councils and 
includes transport requirements for contact with parents/family as well as 
respite care. The changes in passenger transport contracts had less impact 
than those for SEN transport mainly due to the transport type requirements 
and needs of those being transported. The majority of these service requests 
do not have a requirement for dedicated escorts or specialist trained staff.  
 

8. Contract Performance 
 
8.1. The performance monitoring of the new transport service is designed to cover 

all aspects of service delivery and is undertaken by the TCT. Information in 
relation to performance is obtained from a range of sources: performance 
management of contractors; feedback from parents and service users, 
schools, parent forums, children’s resource centres, day centres; parents 
questionnaires. 

 
8.2. The TCT also captures key performance information from: complaints; call and 

enquiries; collation of late running journeys; member enquiries; financial 
expenditure and forecasting; authorisation of new transport requests. 

 
8.3. Direct performance management of contractors comprises of 4 main elements: 

audit visits to contractors’ offices; spot checks of staff and vehicles across the 
full range of operational sites e.g. schools / day centres; quantitative data from 
contractors; additional formal meetings with contractors as and when required 
in relation to issues arising. 

Page 15



 
 

 
8.4. A clear schedule of information that is covered in all audit visits, spot checks 

and quantitative data from contractors is in place and covers the whole range 
of regulatory requirements (outlined in 8.8 and 8.9) relating to staff and 
vehicles and the service requirements expected. 

 
8.5. Questionnaires are being prepared for distribution to parents at the end of the 

school term to enable them to provide feedback on the service being 
delivered. It is anticipated that the results are likely to include significant 
matters of concern relating to the early start of the contract, however it is 
expected that the results will also show improvement from June onwards. The 
results will be quantified and further improvement actions taken where 
required. The exercise will be repeated every 6 months. 

 
8.6. Unannounced spot checks have so far been undertaken at 6 schools, with 

some of the larger ones being prioritised and 6 day centres. 45 of the 162 
routes have been audited to date across the various sites. 

 
8.7. Meetings have taken place with various schools and day centres to assess the 

transport performance and ensure clear improvement plans are put in place 
where required. A number of these meeting have included some of the 
transport operators. There has also been attendance at relevant Parent 
Forums to hear first hand of difficulties and again to then ensure clear action 
plans where required. 

 
8.8. Safeguarding requirements: In order for any type of driver to be employed, 

or contracted as self-employed, they have to hold an enhanced CRB/DBS as 
part of their licensing requirements. No travel contractor can legally operate 
without this licensing requirement. In addition, MIDAS training for drivers and 
PATS training for escorts is a mandatory requirement of the contract. These 
are nationally recognised training requirements, standard for those delivering 
services for local authorities. 

 
8.9. Prior to contract letting and during the mobilisation phase of the contract, 

operators were required to demonstrate that drivers/escorts that were 
employed by them met CRB/DBS requirements. Now that the contract has 
started and TUPE staff have transferred, audits have been completed to verify 
that the appropriate level of CRB/DBS is in place. Contractors have now 
provided all details of drivers/escorts with details of expiry and last check 
dates. In addition to the above, ID badge checks have been undertaken on the 
7 spot checks at sites and these have been cross referenced with DBS/CRB 
list. 

 
8.10. In relation to the current performance of contractors to date, this can be 

broken down into 2 main areas. In relation to the majority of main school runs, 
these are now beginning to settle into a more reliable routine with late running 
journeys having reduced from the high percentage in the first 2 weeks to less 
than 5% currently being reported. This has been greatly assisted with 
operators beginning to develop a consistent staff group of drivers and escorts 
who are becoming more confident with the routes and needs of the children. 
The improvement in journey times was further evidenced from the spot checks 
which have been undertaken so far at schools. Additionally, in the first week of 

Page 16



 
 

the new contracts, there was an average of 125 calls and enquiries per day to 
the TCT. These are now averaging less than 20 per day. 

 
8.11. We are however working with contractors on a number of important areas 

which require improvements: 
 

● A number of the contractors are needing to develop an increased level 
and awareness of customer care with their staff groups. 

● There are still difficulties for parents and adult service users in being able 
to make direct contact with driver or escorts on buses if the need arises. 
This is being addressed formally with contractors to achieve having 
acceptable arrangements in place for day to day communication by 7 
July 2014. This will also then meet the requirement for drivers or escorts 
to alert parents direct if for some unavoidable reason, a bus is running 
late. 

● Whilst the percentage of consistency of drivers and escorts is beginning 
to increase, this requires further improvement and is a requirement of the 
specification. There have been challenges for the operators so far in 
developing a stable staff group as they have had to cope with staff being 
TUPE’d over from previous contractors at a very late stage and so they 
could not be certain at the beginning of the contracts in April as to which 
staff they would have from day one. 

● Additional specialised training to escorts has helpfully been provided by 
some schools. We are working with contractors to ensure this is 
undertaken further by those who require it and also, that demonstrable 
improvements are able to be observed from the training having been 
undertaken. 

● There is needing to be greater attention to the needs of individual 
children attending a range of after school provision. Schools are working 
in close contact with operators to ensure that where information may 
change on a daily basis; that this is shared with operators as soon as 
possible so that they are able to ensure that items such as harnesses are 
appropriately available. 

● Individual taxi journeys – both scheduled and ad hoc – are still not 
running as smoothly as they need to and relevant operators are currently 
amending booking systems in order to achieve this. 

● We have been clear with all operators of the need for them to improve in 
these significant areas and develop credibility and a positive reputation 
with service users, commissioners, a range of stakeholders and elected 
members across all 3 boroughs. 

 
All the above areas are being actively and robustly discussed with operators 
and the monitoring of their plans to achieve the required improvements within 
agreed timescales. There has so far been at least one meeting with all 7 
operators, with 2 or 3 taking place with some.  

Page 17



 
 

 
 
9. FINANCIAL SAVINGS-LBHF 

 

Children's Services 

LBHF – Total – 

14/15 

Total Current Cost £1,193 

    

Total Call off Costs £866 

    

Total Savings Per borough £326 

% Savings 27% 

 
10. Lessons Learnt 
 
10.1. It is evident that following a large and complicated procurement process;  a 

major service re-arrangement; and the mobilisation of a completely new set of 
passenger transport arrangements moving approximately 1200 vulnerable 
children and adults every day to well over 100 destinations; that a number of 
things have gone wrong and there are a range of lessons to be learnt. Further 
work needs to be done to complete the analysis and complete the set of 
findings. The scrutiny process should contribute to this exercise. So far the 
lessons might be summarised as follows: 

 
10.2. Further work should have been done at the pre-procurement phase to better 

understand the market. In the end fewer bidders were attracted to the Tri-
borough procurement phase than was expected. This perhaps reflects that it is 
a particularly difficult operating environment for contractors in Inner West 
London. The market is a niche with supply mainly coming from small 
operators, who encounter particular workforce issues. More work might have 
warmed the market and produced a higher level of interest at the first stage of 
procurement. If all of the contracts had been let at this stage, more time would 
have been available to prepare for the mobilisation issues. 

 
10.3. Although quite a lot of work was done to involve schools, parents and carers; 

even more should have been done. We should have involved representatives 
of the parent and carer groups at the outset. This lesson is being applied in the 
preparation for the implementation of the Children and Families Act. There 
was a fair amount of communication with stake holding interest but even so, 
this should have been increased. 

 
10.4. The establishment of the TCT and the support service infrastructure was not 

executed speedily enough. If this had been done earlier, more work could 
have been done to check the detail of the individual service user, school and 
day centre requirements, although the TCT would still have been hampered by 
the difficulties in eliciting information from the outgoing contractors. An 
established TCT might have recognised the poor quality of the data held, and 
set about remedying this deficiency in advance of the mobilisation of the 
contract. 

 
 

Page 18



 
 

10.5. The difficulty of the operation of the new routes on the first few days was 
underestimated. Insufficient attention was paid to the inevitable difficulty there 
would be with drivers and escorts new to the routes, and unfamiliar with the 
requirements of the service users. If these operating issues had been better 
anticipated, service users, schools and day centres would have been better 
prepared for the difficulties that ensued. 

 
10.6. More preparatory work should have been done with the new contractors to 

ensure that there ‘customer call’ centres and arrangements were fit for 
purpose from the outset. 

 
 
11. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

11.1  The Policy and Accountability Committee is invited to review and comment 
upon the information presented in this report. Further reports including more 
detailed analysis of particular issues can be provided at future Committee 
meetings as required. 

 
12. CONSULTATION 

12.1  As highlighted earlier in the report, consultation and engagement was a key 
area of the Passenger Transport programme.  It continues to be so during the 
delivery of the new service with regular and ongoing consultation with service 
users, parents and carers. 

 
13. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

13.1  Equality impact assessments were undertaken as part of the Passenger 
Transport programme.  Updated data is currently being analysed in order to 
measure changes and impact post service implementation. 

 
14. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

14.1  Given that this report sets out action the council has taken and will take under 
the contracts it has awarded, there are no legal implications arising from it. 

 

14.2  Implications verified/completed by: Keith Simkins, Principal Solicitor 0207 361 
2194 

 
 
15. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.1  The financial rationale for the tri-borough procurement was to achieve 

economies both through the increased scale of the procurement and the ability 
to transfer a larger number of children together on fewer buses. In total, based 
on December 2013 expenditure levels the level of targeted savings was 
approximately £2m p.a. with LBHF benefitting by approximately £0.5m shared 
between Adult Social Care and Children’s Services. 

Page 19



 
 

15.2 Implications completed by: Dave McNamara, Tri-Borough Director of Finance 
and Resources  Tel: 020 8753 3404  

 
16. RISK MANAGEMENT  

16.1  The identification, management and mitigation of the Passenger Transport 
Procurement risks are the responsibility of the Tri-borough Children’s Services 
Department and relevant managers.  The department periodically produces 
and updates a risk register for the Tri-borough Children’s Services Portfolio 
Team and risks associated with the procurement have been recorded as part 
of that process.  Risks are expressed by a description and are evaluated by 
their significance.  An assessment is made by the Project Board on any 
additional controls required to sufficiently mitigate risk.  An escalation 
procedure is available to inform Project Boards and Project Sponsors of 
emerging significant risks.  In any procurement, information management and 
good data quality are essential components that enable a successful 
implementation to be done.  The pre-procurement phase should consider 
information management, data quality, person and mobilisation risks in all 
future tendering exercises.  This procurement has been a complex process 
and lessons learned should be applied to improve the risk management of 
future procurement projects. 

16.2  Implications completed by:   Michael Sloniowski, Bi-borough Risk Manager ext 
2587  

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 None   

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Tri-borough Passenger Transport Programme – Chronology 
 
Appendix 2 – Letter from Olivia Meyrick, Executive Head Teacher, Westminster 
Special Schools 
 

Page 20



 
 

 Appendix 1 -Tri-borough Passenger Transport Programme – Chronology 

 Date Activity  

 2010 LBHF begin market testing for potential outsourcing of Passenger Transport 
Services for adults and children 

 

    

 2010/11 WCC begin process of reviewing model as Enterprise contract ending August 
2013 

 

    

 January – June 
2012 

Consideration of a Tri-borough approach – early iteration of programme.  Early 
iteration of officer governance established.   

 

    

 August 2012 Consultants tendered for and appointed (Agilisys) to prepare business case.  
Early work on target operating model and tender specification. 

 

    

 September 2012 Officer governance revised.  Passenger Transport Programme Board established 
and run throughout the programme.   

 

    

 September 2012  Agreement to progress work on a Tri-borough basis. 
LBHF Cabinet Member for Community Care and Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services 
RBKC Cabinet Members for Adult Social Care and Cabinet Member for Family 
and Children’s Services 
WCC Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Community Protection 
and Cabinet Member for Adults 

 

    

  Continued work on specification    

    

 September 2012 Notice published in the Official Journal of the European Union.  Restricted 
procurement process.   

 

    

 Nov - Dec 13 Pre-Qualification Questionnaire issued, returned and evaluated.    

    

 Dec 12 / Jan 13 Agreement to overall model and to progress to tender. 
LBHF Cabinet  (14 January 2013) 
RBKC Cabinet (10 January 2013) 
WCC Cabinet Member for Adult Services and Cabinet Member for Children, 
Young People and Community Care (19 December 2012) 

 

    

 Jan 2013 Finalisation of tender specification.  Invitation to tender (ITT) issued.     

    

 Jan – May 2013  ITT returns, clarification and evaluation.  Framework due diligence.  Further due 
diligence as a result of concerns highlighted.   

 

    

 May/June 13  Assessment and review of tender outcome and overall business case (Edge 
Consultants).  Briefing and consultation with Cabinet Members.   

 

    

  Framework call off preparation.  Finance and charging / client data / call off 
modelling / business process modelling and further development of TOM 

 

    

 July 2013 Engagement with Special School Heads  

    

 July 2013  Agreement to award to framework for Lot 1A and Lot 1B (mini bus and taxi 
operators).  Agree not to award to Lot 3 (award together of Lots 1 and 2) and 
review decision with regard to Lot 2 (outsourced transport management) 
LBHF Cabinet (22 July 2013) 
RBKC Cabinet (18 July 2013)  
WCC Cabinet Sub Committee Cabinet Member for Finance and Customer 
Services, Cabinet Member for Adult Services and Public Health and Cabinet 
Member for Children, Young People and Community Care (2 July 2013) 

 

Page 21



 
 

 

 August 2013 Lot 1A call off process begun.  Development of in house transport management.    

    

 September 13 Call off bids not received for all destinations.  Approach reviewed.    

    

  Viability of WLA Framework assessed.    

    

 September – 
October 13 

Robust clarification of successful call off bids (Bundles 3, 4 and 5) from in house 
framework.  Due diligence undertaken. 

 

    

 October 13  Consultants (Edge Public Solutions) appointed to mobilise operators.    

    

 November 13 Call offs from own framework (SEN bundles 1 and 2)  and WLA Framework (ASC 
and Community Transport) 

 

    

 November – 
December 13  

Robust clarification of successful call off bids from WLA framework.  Due 
diligence undertaken. 

 

 12
th
 – 23

rd
 Dec 13 Cabinet Member consultations for approval of Lot 1A 

LBHF  Cabinet Member for Community Care (23/12)  and Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services (17/12) 
RBKC  Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care (13/12) and Cabinet Member for 
Family and Children’s Services (12/ 12) 
WCC  Cabinet Member for Finance and Customer Services (17/12), Cabinet 
Member for Adult Services and Public Health and Cabinet Member for Children 
(17/12), Young People and Community Care (16/12) 

 

 January 2014 Executive Director approval of award of contract for Lot 1A  

    

  Briefing for Head Teachers / Day Centre Managers / Parents Forum Reps  

    

  Full mobilisation of operators begins.  Route planning begins.    

    

 29
th
 January 2014 First letters to parents / carers   

  Communication with day centre clients via centre managers  

  Start of consultation for in house Transport Commissioning Team    

  TUPE consultation starts  

  Letters to existing contractors  

    

 February/March 
13 

Face to face meetings with parents – Jack Tizard; Cambridge; QEII schools Isaac 
Newton PDC, Parents Active (LBHF parents’ forum).   

 

    

  Briefing to Tri-borough Head Teachers.  Face to face and ongoing 
communications with Special Heads and Day Centre Managers  

 

    

  Call offs and award of contracts for Lot 1B (taxis)   

    

 24
th
 March 13 Letter to all parents informing them of their new provider and pickup and drop off 

times for minibus users.   
 

    

  Work with parents to resolve individual transport queries   

    

 April 13  Letter to all parents informing them of their new provider and pickup and drop off 
times for taxi users. 

 

    

 10
th
 April 2013 Executive Director meets and briefs new contractors   

 April 2013 Decommissioning of existing contractors completed  

 22
nd
 April 2013 Go Live   

    

Page 22



 
 

Appendix 2 

 

  

 

Executive Headteacher 
Olivia Meyrick 

 

 

Head of School 
Scott Pickard 

Kennet Road, W9 3LG 
020 7641 5825 

office@qe2cp.westminster.sch.uk 

 

 

Head of School 
Jacqueline Brathwaite 

Garway Road, W2 4PH 
020 7221 3454 

admin@qe2cp.westminster.sch.uk 

 
Report on School Transport Provision 
Both schools are provided a school transport service by Star Bus. Managers of the 
company worked with both schools in identifying young people with significant needs 
in the term before implementation. Schools were supplied with likely bus routes and 
these routes were discussed with staff prior to the transfer of services. 
The first day of service coincided with the TFL tube strike and consequently the 
routes took much longer than anticipated and some pupils were on the bus for three 
hours. It also emerged that the information provided by staff in the previous term had 
not been transmitted to the drivers and escorts and many of them had some difficult 
and challenging journeys. 
Star Bus worked very positively with the schools over the first few weeks and College 
Park transport settled into a smooth working pattern very quickly. QE2 School 
however, did take longer, mostly due to the nature of the young people who have 
enormous difficulties with change, but also because the company did not really 
understand the level of need some of our young people have. This was particularly 
around individual cases of severe medical need and the challenges some of our 
students have in just moving from one environment into another. i.e. leaving the 
security of school and getting into a taxi or bus, where just the fact that there are 
other children travelling with them is a difficulty that could prompt an attack on an 
escort, or an attempt to leave the transport. 
To Star Buses credit and the willingness of staff in both settings, I am very happy to 
report that transport across both schools is now settled and working very well. 
Whenever there are any concerns our staff ring Star Bus and work together for a 
solution. 
Olivia Meyrick 
Executive Headteacher 
Westminster Special Schools 
20th June 2014 
 

 

Page 23



 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
8 JULY 2014 

 

DIRECTOR’S UPDATE 
 

Report of the Executive Director 
 

Open Report 

Classification - For Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Andrew Christie, Tri-borough Executive Director of 
Children’s Services 

Report Author: Andrew Christie, Tri-borough Executive 
Director of Children’s Services 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3601 
E-mail: 
andrew.christie@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. This report provides a brief strategic overview of Children’s Services for 

the new Policy and Accountability Committee and identifies a number 
of recent developments.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. The Committee is asked to review and comment upon the contents of 
this report. 

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

3.1. The Children’s Services department is responsible for developing, 
commissioning and leading the delivery of services for approximately 
36,000 children and young people who live in Hammersmith & Fulham 
and their families. Through the Tri-borough model we have combined a 
number of services with the aim of protecting high quality frontline 
provision, improving service effectiveness and reducing costs.  

 

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



3.2. Our current vision is: 

• To improve the lives and life chances of our children and young 
people. 

• To intervene early to give our children the best start in life and 
promote wellbeing. 

• To ensure vulnerable children and young people are protected from 
harm. 

• To ensure that all children have access to excellent education and 
achieve their potential. 

• All of this will be done whilst reducing Council costs and improving 
service effectiveness. 

 

3.3. Our objectives are: 

• To safeguard all children and young people at risk of harm. 

• To continue to discharge our responsibilities as corporate parents 
(championing the cause of children in care and care leavers) to 
ensure that ‘looked after’ children and care leavers are safe, 
healthy, succeed, achieve their potential and economic wellbeing. 

• To carry out the right intervention at the right time in order to reduce 
demand for high cost specialist services and where possible meet 
the needs of children and young people receiving high cost 
specialist services in a more cost effective way. 

• To provide support and challenge to early years settings, schools 
and colleges, in order to raise standards of educational 
achievement for children and young people. 

• To ensure that all children with disabilities and special educational 
needs are given the maximum opportunities to enhance the quality 
of their life, succeed and achieve their potential. 

• To improve the life chances and wellbeing of children and young 
people in need. 

• To ensure that resources are deployed effectively and efficiently, to 
achieve value for money, and to reduce costs whilst delivering 
improved outcomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



4. KEY DEMOGRAPHICS 

4.1. The most recent key statistics for the local children’s population are as 
follows: 

 

Number of children aged 0-19 in Hammersmith & Fulham 359961 

Number of pupils in Hammersmith & Fulham Schools 194652 

Number of pupils with special educational needs (SEN): 41783 

 Number of resident children and young people with statements 
of SEN: 6474 

Percentage of pupils achieving a ‘good level of development’ at 
the end of Early Years Foundation Stage: 

53%         
[national 
rate 52%] 

Number of contacts with Children’s Social Care Services about 
individual children in the year 2013/14 8000 

Number of children subject to child protection plans: 1635 

Number of children in care: 1985 

 

5. RECENT DEVELOPMENTS 

Education 
 

5.1. In the borough there are 4 nursery schools, 36 primary schools (of 
which 5 are academies or free schools), 10 secondary schools (of 
which 8 are academies or free schools), 1 sixth form college, 4 special 
schools and three pupil referral units/short stay provisions. As at June 
2014, 84% of these schools were judged by Ofsted to be good or 
outstanding, 11% required improvement and 5% were graded as 
inadequate. So far in 2014, 4 schools and nurseries have been subject 
to inspections. Bayonne and Vanessa Nursery Schools and Good 
Shepherd RC Primary School were judged to be outstanding while 
Hurlingham and Chelsea secondary school was judged to be 
inadequate. 
 

5.2. Based on a review of performance data, and Ofsted inspection 
outcomes, the School Standards service targets support and challenge 

                                            
 
1
 Census 2011, ONS 

 
2
 School Census, January 2014 includes all pupils in maintained nurseries, primary, 
secondary and special schools 

 
3
 School Census, January 2014 (all children on SEN Code of Practice with LBHF postcodes) 

 
4
 School Census, January 2014 

 
5
 As at 31st May 2014 

 

Page 26



in schools that are not Ofsted good or outstanding, or who are at risk of 
not maintaining a good judgement on quality of education provision. 
This year this has included the service working with the following 
Ofsted “Requiring improvement” schools to bring about improvements: 
Cambridge School, Sir John Lillie Primary, St Paul's Primary, 
Greenside Primary, Holy Cross Primary and Phoenix High and schools 
judged to be inadequate - Hurlingham and Chelsea and Langford 
Primary. 
 

5.3. Hurlingham and Chelsea and Langford schools are federated. After 
Hurlingham and Chelsea was placed in “special measures”, the council 
replaced the federation’s governing body with an Interim Executive 
Board (IEB). The IEB’s role is to run the school as any other governing 
body would, with the expectation that it steers the schools to a position 
where the Secretary of State appoints an academy sponsor or 
sponsors to take responsibility for the running of the schools. 
 

5.4. Success with this work is assessed through external reviews of 
teaching and learning, HMI visit reports and Ofsted inspections and 
Key Stage assessment results. A regular report is provided to the Lead 
member that summarises overall Ofsted outcomes and work in 
individual schools. Currently 84 per cent of schools are good or 
outstanding.  
 

5.5. Key Stage 1 and 2 primary school assessments have taken place this 
term. The process has been supported by Local Authority moderation. 
Results will be published soon and a full report can be shared with the 
Policy and Accountability Committee. 
 

5.6. Additional funding and support has been provided for all secondary 
schools with GCSE classes through the 80 Per Cent Club funding. 
Projections from the subsequent visits made to the schools are positive 
for improvements in GCSE outcomes across the borough. Provisional 
results will be available in the autumn term and a report can be 
provided for Policy and Accountability Committee. 
 

5.7. The current School Organisation Strategy was approved in April. This 
showed that (based on then current plans) capacity was projected to 
be adequate to meet demand at primary level across the borough as a 
whole, but that the Council needs to plan for a deficit at secondary level 
by 2019. At primary level, 66% of resident pupils attend maintained 
schools in the borough and 28% attend independent schools. At 
secondary level, 45% of resident pupils attend maintained schools in 
the borough and 27% attend independent schools (January 2013 
figures). The balance attend maintained schools outside the borough. 
 

5.8. The impact of the new administration’s policy to increase the proportion 
of affordable rented housing units in new developments will affect 
projected need for new school places. This is known as the ‘child yield’. 
For this reason, the Council is reviewing its decision to amalgamate 

Page 27



New King’s and Sulivan schools which would have taken 0.5 form entry 
(i.e. capacity for half a standard sized school class) out of the system in 
order to reduce the over-capacity in south Fulham.  
 

5.9. It should also be noted that 22% of pupils in our primary schools are 
resident in other boroughs and 53% of pupils in the secondary sector 
are resident in other boroughs.  
 

5.10. In the light of possible changes in Council policy, it may be necessary 
to revise the School Organisation strategy later in 2014, and the 
projections described in 5.7. This may have consequences for the 
Schools’ Capital Programme. 
 

5.11. On 27th June, the Deputy Mayor is presenting awards at Larmenier and 
Sacred Heart primary school to mark work in relation to healthy eating 
along with the achievement of the Silver Food for Life standard by 
Eden, the borough’s school meals contractor. The Food for Life 

standards reflect the best practice in providing healthy and sustainable 
meals which include the use of fresh, seasonal, local and organic 
ingredients, high welfare meat and sustainable fish. 

 

5.12. Children’s Social Care 
 

5.13. A policy regarding payments to friends and families who care for some 
of the borough’s looked after children is being developed. This is in 
response to a court ruling made in respect of Tower Hamlets local 
authority, where a carer had challenged the Council’s policy to pay 
kinship carers differently to local authority employed carers.  
 

5.14. In May, the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board was subject to a Peer 
Review lead by an Independent Chair of the LSCB in another local 
authority and five other reviewers with a range of experience in 
different agencies and other local authorities. The review concluded 
that the Tri-Borough LSCB complies with its statutory responsibilities. A 
number of strengths and areas for further development were identified 
and an action plan is being developed which will be progressed by the 
LSCB at a meeting in early July. 
 

5.15. A Foster Carers’ Celebration event took place on 30 June. This is an 
annual awards ceremony to recognise and express the contribution 
that foster carers make to the lives of children in care. There are 
awards for outstanding carers who have provided support over and 
above what is expected of carers, a “Carer of the Year” award, “New 
Carer of the Year” as well as awards for carers who have completed 5, 
10, 15 and 25 years of service. Further details of this year’s awards 
can be provided to the Committee on request. 

 
5.16. Family Services continues to plan and prepare for an anticipated 

Ofsted inspection of child protection and services for children who are 
looked after. Ofsted adopted this new inspection framework in 

Page 28



November 2013.  These inspections start without notice. The 
inspection lasts for over three weeks and focuses on practice and the 
experience of children and their families. It is likely that the inspection 
for Hammersmith and Fulham will be carried out concurrently with 
inspections of the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and 
Westminster City Council.  
 

5.17. There will be three key judgements resulting from the inspection 
regarding: 
 

• the experiences and progress of children who need help and 
protection; 

• the experiences and progress of children looked after and 
achieving permanent homes and families for them and 

• leadership, management and governance. 
  
The inspection will include a review of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board. There will also be graded judgements on the service for care 
leavers and adoption. 
 
Young people 
 

5.18. Recent figures regarding young people not in employment, education 
or training (NEET) show good performance in addressing this issue. 
The proportions and numbers of young people who are NEET have 
decreased in the Year 12 and Year 13 age groups (young people aged 
16 to 18) although there has been an increase of 12 young people in 
the Year 14 age group (aged 18-19). 

 
Academic Age 16 -18 (year 12-14) 

2013-14 2012-13   

  
Jan-
14 

Feb-
14 

Mar-
14 

Average 
change 

Jan-
13 

Feb-
13 

Mar-
13 

Average 
change 

Change between 
averages 

ENGLAND 5.3% 5.3% 5.3% 5.3% 5.7% 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% -5.4% 

LONDON 3.9% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.7% 4.6% 4.5% 4.6% -13.0% 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham  

3.2% 3.5% 3.3% 3.3% 3.6% 3.7% 3.9% 3.7% -10.8% 

 
Commissioning 
 

5.19. All three borough Tri-borough Councils’ contracts for school meals are 
due to expire in 2015. Work is underway to develop future options for 
providing this service. There is some potential to make more efficient 
use of resources and potentially reduce contract management costs. A 
single contract may allow economies of scale for a service across three 
boroughs within a small geographical area while driving up the standard 
of school meals. 

5.20. 25,000 parents, carers and guardians resident in all 3 boroughs have 
been sent a questionnaire requesting their feedback on a range of 
issues regarding the quality of service and the price they would be 

Page 29



willing to pay for a school meal. Approximately 4000 responses have 
been received, analysed and reported to schools. There is ongoing 
consultation with schools and governors through a Representative 
Working Group which meets every two weeks to discuss a variety of 
key issues that are important to schools, along with regular e-bulletins 
providing progress updates for schools, governors and elected 
members. Options for this service provision will be developed and 
agreed with schools. 

5.21. The strategy and action plan for Hammersmith & Fulham Health and 
Wellbeing Board has identified a number of opportunities and examples 
of joint commissioning with health which are being progressed. These 
include the joint commissioning of speech and language therapy which 
involves the local authority and NHS. A review of Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services is underway including the services which 
support social care to improve emotional and wellbeing outcomes for 
children and young people. “Connecting Care for Children” is being 
developed which will bring paediatric expertise to the community 
through GP hubs which are linked with social care and localities 
services.   

5.22. New Tri-borough Passenger Transport contracts were mobilised in April 
2014 which includes transport provision for children and young people 
with special educational needs and looked after children. A detailed 
report is on the agenda for this Committee meeting. 

6. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. As this report is intended to set the scene regarding Children’s 
Services as well as providing an update on recent developments, there 
are no immediate equality implications. However any equality issues 
will be highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports on any of the 
items which are requested by the Committee. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. As this report is intended to provide an update on recent 
developments, there are no immediate legal implications. However any 
legal issues will be highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports 
on any of the items which are requested by the Committee. 

8. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. As this report is intended to provide an update on recent 
developments, there are no immediate financial and resource 
implications. However any financial and resource issues will be 
highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports on any of the items 
which are requested by the Committee. 

 
 

Page 30



 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None.   

 

Page 31



 
 

 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
8 JULY 2014 

 

SAFEGUARDING AND LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN PERFORMANCE 
INFORMATION REPORT ON ACTIVITY DURING 2013-14 
 

Report of the Tri-borough Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Open Report 

Classification - For Review & Comment 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Andrew Christie, Tri-borough Executive Director of 
Children's Services 
 

Report Author: Steve Miley, Director of Family Services, 
Rowena Ward, Tri-borough Business Analysis Manager, 
Steve Bywater, Interim Tri-borough Policy Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2300 
E-mail: 
steve.miley@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1  This report summarises the performance of the local authority in relation 
to outcomes for children in need of protection and for looked after 
children for the year ending 31 March 2014. The report provides a tri-
borough perspective where this information is available. At the time of 
writing this report, many of the outturns for indicators were 
“provisional” and so may be subject to change in the near future as 
final figures are verified and confirmed with the Department for 
Education. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 The Committee is asked to review and comment on the report making 
any recommendations as appropriate. 

 
3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  
 
3.1  The Children Act 2004, Section 11 places a statutory responsibility upon 

the local authority, to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 
young people. While “safeguarding” includes a range of activities which 

Page 32

Agenda Item 8



 
 

aim to make children safer at home, in school and in their communities, 
Family Services invest significant time and resources in statutory “child 
protection” services for children assessed as being at risk of significant 
harm. The local authority also has a range of statutory duties towards 
children looked after, ensuring they are effectively supported, planned for 
and that key needs such as their health and education are prioritised and 
addressed. Regular oversight of performance in relation to these highly 
vulnerable cohorts of children is essential if high expectations in relation 
to outcomes are to be realised. This report provides an overview of a 
range of key performance indicators which identify areas where the local 
authority is performing well along with areas where performance needs 
to be strengthened.   

 
4. PERFORMANCE IN RELATION TO SAFEGUARDING 

4.1 There are four key stages in the child protection process as follows: 

4.2 Referral: When it is believed that statutory action is required for a child 
to be safeguarded, the local authority should be informed about the 
concerns through a referral from another agency or by a family member. 
Rates of referral to Family Services are detailed in Table 1 below. This 
shows higher rates of referral in 2013/14 compared with London and 
national rates for 2012/13 (rates are not yet published nationally) 
reflecting the high volume of social need in the borough. Rates appear 
lower than those of the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea; this 
is largely because of the particular way in which they count children’s 
referrals they include any contact not just a request for a service). Re-
referral rates within 12 months are lower than London and national rates.  
High levels of re-referrals within a short period may suggest that 
children’s needs had not been sufficiently met when the first referral was 
made. So while it is good that we have a low rate compared to the 
London average we would still want to reduce this percentage in the 
future.  

 

Table 1: Rate of referrals 

2013-14 Rate per 
10,000 of 
children aged 
under 18 
years 

Re-referrals 
percentage 
within 12 
months 

Assessments 
as a 
percentage of 
referrals 

Assessments 
rate per 10,000 

England 2012-13 520.7 24.9% 74%   

London 2012-13 458.5 17.7%     

LBHF 2013-14 540.8 17.2% 91% 491.9 

RBKC 2013-14 851.6 19.5% 64% 541.5 

WCC 2013-14 444.2 12.5% 85% 377.9 

 

4.3 Assessment: Following referral, where it is decided that an assessment 
of the child’s needs should take place, a social worker will investigate the 

Page 33



 
 

concern through interviews with the child, the family and other 
professionals. He or she will assess how well the child is being cared for 
and what additional support may be required. Table 1 also shows rates 
of assessments that take place in response to referrals. Although 
Hammersmith & Fulham has high rates of referral, there is a much higher 
likelihood of these referrals leading to an assessment, compared with 
national and other Tri-borough authorities. Nationally other agencies 
often complain that Social Care services do not give sufficient weight to 
their referrals and close the case too soon (thresholds are too high).  So 
this data suggests a positive picture of our service being more willing 
than other Local Authorities to investigate further the concerns raised.  

4.4 Child protection list and child protection plan Following an initial child 
protection case conference it may be decided that a multi-agency plan 
should be developed to reduce the risks to the child. The child’s name 
may be flagged to other agencies and his or her name will be placed on 
the child protection list. As of 31 March 2014, 163 Hammersmith & 
Fulham had Child Protection Plans. This compares with 142 children at 
the end of 2012/13. Table 2 shows that the rates of children per 10,000 
children who had such Plans have been broadly constant since 2010/11 
(2009/10 was a period of time during which many local authorities saw 
increases in numbers of children with child protection plans in response 
to the Baby Peter inquiry). However there has been as slight increase in 
rates in the past year. The borough consistently has higher rates 
compared with national, London and the other Tri-borough authorities. 
The service has reviewed the cases which have been taken to 
conference and the conclusion was that the increased number reflects 
the volume of investigations and serious child protection concerns that 
have been referred to us. Further work is taking place across the tri-
borough to review and understand the differences in rates of children 
with child protection plans.  
 
 

 

 
 

Table 2: Rate of children who were the subject of a child protection plan at 31 
March per 10,000 children  

Rate of children who were 
the subject of a child 
protection plan at 31 
March per 10,000 children 

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 
2012-
2013 

2013-14 

England    37.9  

London    34.8  

LBHF 74.9 48.6 42 42.7 48.9 

RBKC 28.9 30.4 26.1 26.6 33.5 

WCC 38.5 28 26.6 25.9 27.3 

Page 34



 
 

 
 

4.5 Table 3 shows the rate at which various stages of the process leading to 
child protection plans take place. Again the rates for child protection 
rates, initial child protection case conferences and children being 
provided with a child protection plan are consistently higher than national 
levels and in other Tri-borough authorities. As there are clear definitions 
of the criteria for initiation of a child protection plan and there has also 
been criticism of some authorities for seemingly having too few children 
with such plans, it would appear that these figures demonstrate that 
Family Services are responding appropriately to concerns that are 
identified regarding highly vulnerable children. They also reflect higher 
rates of referral previously highlighted in this report.  

 

Table 3 Rate of child protection plans 

2013-14 Child 
protection 
investigation 
rates per 
10,000 

Initial child 
protection 
case 
conference 
rate per 
10,000 

Children 
added to 
child 
protection 
plan rate 
per 10,000 

Rate of 
child 
protection 
plans per 
10,000 

England 2012-13 111.5 52.7 46.2 37.9 

LBHF 148.9 65.8 58.6 48.9 

RBKC 141.8 41.8 36.0 33.5 

WCC 82.9 38.4 31.8 27.3 

 
 

4.6 Table 4 shows levels of activity and comparative performance in relation 
to stages leading to the instigation of a child protection case conference. 
Strategy discussions are initial meetings involving key agencies which 
plan the action which will be taken in response to a referral. Section 47 
enquiries are the formal process that the local authority must undertake 
(under Section 47 of the Children Act 1989) where there is reasonable 
cause to suspect that a child is suffering, or likely to suffer, significant 
harm. The percentage of case conferences held within 15 working days 
of the decision to investigate the concern was comparatively low in 
Hammersmith and Fulham. This is partly due to data collection issues 
and different Local Authority practices regarding when the 15 day period 
starts from (the beginning of the s47 investigation or the decision to hold 
a conference which is made at the end of the investigation). Since we 
have been consistently collecting the data from the decision to hold the 
conference the percentage of conferences held within 15 working days is 
over 80%. The main priority should be to ensure that vulnerable children 
are not left at risk. Audit work is being carried out to provide assurance  
on this point. The percentage of children who are made subject to a 
Child Protection Plan following an initial child protection case conference 
is high (89%) suggesting that children are moved into these stages of the 

Page 35



 
 

process appropriately as a result of high levels of risk which need to be 
addressed. 
 

 

4.7 Table 5 shows the breakdown of the number of children with Child 
Protection Plans by age. Hammersmith and Fulham’s breakdown is 
broadly similar to that of the other Tri-borough authorities although 
Westminster has higher numbers and proportions of unborn children with 
Plans and Kensington and Chelsea had more young people aged 16-17.  

 

Table 5 Child protection plans by age 

2013-14 LBHF   RBKC   WCC     

Unborn 1 1% 3 3% 6   7% 

Under 1 21 13% 13 14% 6   7% 

1 to 4 33 20% 18 19% 17   18% 

5 to 9 49 30% 25 27% 30   33% 

10 to 15 56 34% 29 31% 30   33% 

16 to 17 3 2% 6 6% 3   3% 

Total 163   94   92     

4.8 Table 6 shows the proportion of children with plans where they have had 
two or more periods of time being supported through such a plan. 
Outturns for this indicator vary significantly over time because of the 
small cohorts of children involved. It is important to continue to respond 
to subsequent safeguarding concerns about children who previously had 
plans. However, the aim of work carried out while children are subject to 
plans is to ensure that their families and wider networks will have been 
sufficiently supported to be resourceful enough to keep the children safe 
in the longer term without repeated statutory intervention. The borough is 
performing well in relation to the proportion of child protection plans 
which are reviewed within prescribed timescales.  

 
 

Table 4 Child protection process 

2013-
14 

Number of 
strategy 
discussions 

Strategy 
discussions 
leading to 
Section 47 

Number of 
children 
subject to 
Initial Child 
Conferences 
(ICPC) 

% of 
S47 
leading 
to 
ICPC 

% of 
ICPC 
within 
15 
days 

ICPC 
leading 
to a 
CPP 

% of 
ICPC 
leading 
to a 
CPP 

LBHF 586 496 219 44% 39% 195 89% 

RBKC N/A 390 115 29% N/A 101 88% 

WCC   300 138 46% N/A 115 83% 

Page 36



 
 

Table 6: Repeat child protection plans 

  Child protection 
plans for a second or 
subsequent time 

2012-13 

Child protection 
plans for a second 
or subsequent time 

2013-14 

Child protection 
cases reviewed 
within timescales 

2013-14 

England 14.9% 13.8% 97% 

London 13.0% 11.4% 98% 

LBHF 13.3% 20% 100% 

RBKC 11.0% 10% 100% 

WCC 19.4% 0% 100% 

    

 

4.9 Table 7 shows performance in relation to the duration of child protection 
plans. Most children should not require the support of a child protection 
plan for long periods of time; if the risks to children are not adequately 
addressed and progress is not being made then it is often the case that 
different action should be taken, for example removal through care 
proceedings. The table shows the proportion of children whose plans 
ended each year where the plan had been in place for more than two 
years. Performance in Hammersmith & Fulham has been improving and 
in 2013/14, there were no situations where Child Protection Plans came 
to an end following children having been supported by the plan for more 
than two years. Monitoring of the number of children still with plans and 
their durations suggests that performance is likely to continue to be good 
in 2014/15. 
 

 

Table 7: Number of children who ceased to be the subject of a 
plan who had been subject to a child protection plan for 2 years 
and over 

  2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 

England   5.2%   

London   7.5%   

LBHF 13.4% 13.2% 0.0% 

RBKC 4.6% 4.8% 0.0% 

WCC 7.3% 5.5% 0.0% 

4.10 The care proceedings pilot has had a significant impact on practice in 
Hammersmith and Fulham and beyond. This has engaged key 
stakeholders including Cafcass, court staff and the judiciary, to address 
structural barriers which contributed to delay in decision making for 
children. This included ensuring high quality local authority evidence was 
presented to the court; facilitating the allocation of cases at an earlier 

Page 37



 
 

stage along with analysis by Cafcass Guardians; ensuring judicial and 
social worker continuity for every case; reducing delay caused by 
requests for additional assessments during the court process. In 
2013/14 there has been positive feedback from the courts in relation to 
the quality of evidence provided by the borough. The median duration for 
our care proceedings was 29 weeks. Family Services has maintained 
this performance whilst undertaking approximately half the care 
proceedings in the Tri-Borough. In 2013/14 Hammersmith & Fulham 
issued 44 care applications (of 90 across the Tri-Borough) and 
concluded 63 (out of 115). The number of applications are per family not 
per child. 
 
 

5. PERFORMANCE IN RELATION TO LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND 
CARE LEAVERS 

5.1 As at the end of March 2014, there was a total of 204 children looked 
after by Hammersmith and Fulham Council, of which 9 were 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children. 

 
 

Table 8 Total number of looked after children 

Year Ending 
March 

Citizen UASC* Total 

2004 361 83 444 

2005 315 98 413 

2006 308 86 394 

2007 305 59 364 

2008 266 48 314 

2009 242 43 285 

2010 234 26 260 

2011 227 21 248 

2012 204 20 224 

2013 220 18 238 

2014 195 9 204 

 

Page 38



 
 

5.2 This maintains a trend within the borough over the past 10 years where 
the overall number of looked after children has been decreasing.  This 
contradicts general trends elsewhere in the country although a number of 
other inner London authorities have also successfully managed to 
reduced their looked after populations. While Family Services continues 
to act swiftly where concerns about children’s safety are such that they 
cannot continue to live with their birth families, where children can be 
effectively supported at home with the support of their wider family 
outcomes are usually better. The reductions in numbers in Hammersmith 
& Fulham are the result of three main factors: 

• Increasingly effective gate keeping has meant that the number of 
children entering care has not reflected the sharp rises seen 
nationally 

• The previously mentioned care proceedings pilot which was 
initiated in the borough and has since been adopted elsewhere has 
led to a reduced length of time that many children remain in care 

• There have been ongoing improvements to the effectiveness of 
permanency planning leading to more children being found 
permanent alternative families rather than remaining in the care 
system. 

• A high number of older children in the care system who left care by 
virtue of their 18 birthday.  

  

5.3 Table 9 shows the prevalence of looked after children per 10,000 
children for the borough compared with rates for the other Tri-borough 
authorities. National and London rates are also provided for comparison 
although the figures for 2013/14 are not yet published. This shows that 
current rates in the borough have decreased and are now comparable 
with national rates for last year. Rates are still lower than those of the 
other Tri-borough authorities. This partly reflects different population 
profiles but ongoing Tri-borough identification and sharing of best 
practice may also have a longer term positive effect on rates within 
Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 

Table 9: Looked after children rates 

Number of looked 
after children 

2012-2013 2012-13 rates 
per 10,000 

2013-14 2013-14 
rates per 
10,000 

England 2012-13   60     

London 2012-13   55     

LBHF 236 70.9 204 61.3 

RBKC 98 35.6 96 34.9 

WCC 188 51.9 176 48.6 

 

Page 39



 
 

5.4 Children enter care through one of two routes. Either at the request of a 
parent (Voluntary admission) or through care proceedings (compulsory 
admission). Two thirds of all children entering care do so though care 
proceedings with younger children being even more likely to enter 
through this route. 90% of children under 14 enter through care 
proceedings. In 2013/14, 115 children entered care since. 77 (67%) were 
aged 14 or under. 

5.5 Table 10 shows the throughput of Hammersmith & Fulham children 
through the care system over time since 2007. This shows that overall 
numbers entering care annually have increased year on year since 2012 
and in 2004, the highest numbers entered care in one year since 2007 
when the overall trend of a reducing care population started. Usually 
approximately a third of all children leaving care leave through each of 
the three possible exit routes (returning to family, permanency or 
becoming a care leaver at 18). Therefore 43 leaving care because 
permanency has been achieved (see Table 11) suggests there has been 
particular success in respect of this option in the past year.  

 

Table 10 Trend data for Hammersmith and Fulham entry and exit 
from care 

Year ending 31st March Children 
entering care 

Children leaving 
care 

2007 120 145 

2008 100 150 

2009 90 120 

2010 90 115 

2011 95 100 

2012 91 126 

2013 105 103 

2014 115 153 

 

Page 40



 
 

5.6 By the end of 2013/14, 72% of our LAC population were aged 10 or 
older, an increase from 2012-13 when 64% were aged 10 plus. 
Therefore, although there are fewer children becoming looked after year 
on year, the proportion entering care as teenagers is increasing. In the 
past, many young people entering care in the older age group were 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children, however this cohort has 
decreased over time and so increasing proportions of the young people 
concerned already have strong local connections.  Meeting the needs of 
such young people presents many challenges and wherever possible, 
interventions will aim to support their return home to their birth families. 
Where this is not feasible or safe, they will still need consistent and 
stable care but are unlikely to be able to feel full members of a new 
family and so permanency orders are seldom appropriate. The focus of 
work with these children is preparation for independence. 
 

 
 

 

Table 10: age of looked 
after children 

AGE NUMBER  

Under 1 16 

1 – 4 13 

5 – 9 28 

10 – 15 66 

16 - 17  72 

 
 

5.7 For all looked after children there are only three key outcomes which can 
result from our interventions with them and their families; 
 

• Reunification with their birth families,  which is always our primary goal 
if safeguarding and care issues are sufficiently addressed   
 

• Permanency, or a permanent care arrangement made within either the 
extended family network or with an unrelated carer,  or  
 

• Preparation for independence post 18. These young people remain in 
our care until they become “care leavers” at age 18.  

5.8 One of the key determinants of which outcome is best for children is their 
age; it is often easier to identify a permanent family for younger children. 
Identifying adults with whom children can develop secure attachments is 
a key element of our work with looked after children. Such adults will be 
able to provide care, emotional warmth, protection and stimulation. 

Page 41



 
 

Children tend to thrive most when they are clear that they have the 
security of being in a permanent family. Hammersmith & Fulham Family 
Services has a strong ethos of ensuring permanency for our looked after 
children and will also pursue this for “hard to place” children wherever 
possible. The local strategy is to combine decision making without 
unnecessary delay (as supported by the Care Proceedings Pilot) and the 
development of a larger and therefore more responsive (in terms of the 
range of placements available) Tri-borough Fostering and Adoption 
Service. Table 11 shows performance on achieving the three main 
categories of permanency order, adoption, special guardianship and 
residence order since 2007.  

 

Table 11: showing Hammersmith and Fulham children leaving care on 
permanent orders 

Year ending 31st 
March 

Adoption Special 
Guardianship 

Residence 
order 

Total 

2006 12 0 13 25 

2007 14 11 7 32 

2008 22 24 3 49 

2009 10 21 5 36 

2010 8 13 5 26 

2011 10 21 3 34 

2012 10 27 9 46 

2013 13 18 6 37 

2014 21 18 4 43 

Total 120 153 55 328 

 
This shows an increase in the number of children leaving care on permanency 
orders compared with the past year with particularly high numbers being 
adopted (21 children). The borough has developed strong performance on 
achieving Special Guardianship. In 2012-13, good performance continued 
with 21% of children who ceased to be looked after as a result of a Special 
Guardianship Order.  Nationally, the borough was the highest performing LA 
for this measure (see Table 12). 
 

 

 

  

Table 12 Percentage of looked after children who ceased to 
be looked after because of a special guardianship order 
during the year 

2
0

1
2

 

R
a

n
k
 

2
0

1
3

 

R
a

n
k
 

LA Name 2011 2012 2013 

   ENGLAND 7 8 10 

2 1 
Hammersmith and 
Fulham 

20 22 21 

58 100 Kensington and Chelsea x 11 x 

90 66 Westminster 6 6 11 

Page 42



 
 

 
The borough also performs well on permanency in comparison with our Tri-
borough neighbours as seen in Table 13 below. 
 

Table 13: Numbers of Tri-borough adoption and special guardianship 
orders 

Year ending 31st March Adoption Special 
Guardianship 

Residence 
order 

LBHF 21 18 4 

RBKC 3 2  

WCC 9 6  

 
 
6. PLACEMENT STABILITY 
 
6.1   Where children cannot quickly exit care, the need to provide them with 

stable placements which meet their needs as they become older is 
essential. Outcomes for children who frequently change placement are 
known to be generally poorer than for children who have a stronger 
sense of stability with high quality carers. National indicators measure 
the proportion of looked after children who have three or more 
placements in one year (where a high percentage is undesirable) and the 
proportion of children who have remained in the same placement for at 
least two years if they have been in care for 2.5 years or more. In the 
past year, Hammersmith & Fulham LAC have been slightly less likely to 
have frequent placement breakdowns compared with children looked 
after by the other two Tri-borough authorities and children in care 
nationally. However, our performance in relation to maintaining children 
in the same placement for more than two years is comparatively not as 
good. This can be explained by the majority of children in stable 
placements leaving care because of success with achieving 
permanency, particularly through Special Guardianship Orders. 

 
 
 

Table 14: Tri-borough placement stability 

2013-14 Three or more 
placements  
within the year 
(provisional year 
end information) 

Looked after for 2.5 
years and in the same 
placement for at least 
2 years  (provisional 
year end information) 

England 2012-13 11% 67% 

LBHF 6% 61% 

RBKC 8% 79% 

WCC 7% 81% 

 
 
 

Page 43



 
 

7. ADOPTION PERFORMANCE 

7.1 The government introduced the Adoption Scorecard nationally in 2012 as 
a result of concerns regarding the time taken for children to be subject of 
an adoption order following their entry to care. The national average for 
this time interval is 2 years and 7 months which is a significant period 
and can mean that younger children spend the majority of their life in this 
unresolved situation. The intention of the adoption scorecard was to 
provide a set of measures showing the time taken to achieve an adoption 
order and the specific phases of the adoption process from entry to care, 
to forming the adoption plan, to adoption placement and finally adoption 
order.  

7.2 The first adoption scorecards were published for each local authority in 
2012 and have been updated annually. From this year they will include 
data from the perspective of adopters and will include adoption agencies 
other than those within local authorities to enable more comparing and 
contrasting of performance.  
 

7.3 Hammersmith and Fulham’s most recent scorecard highlights 55% of 
children wait less than 20 months between becoming looked after and 
being placed in an adoptive family. This is comparable with the English 
average.  
 

7.4 The adoption scorecard is based on a relatively small cohort (of 
approximately 12 children per year). Therefore the final “score” is subject 
to skewing when barriers prevent the adoption of a very small number of 
children. For example, persevering with a plan to find a permanent 
placement for an older child will affect overall timescales even though 
eventual success in placement will usually lead to a significant 
improvement in the life chances of the child concerned. Aspirations to 
secure permanency for other “hard to place” children such as those with 
disabilities or sibling groups will also have an impact on scorecard 
performance. However, the table below shows those improvements in 
the speed of placement can and should be made. 

 
 

Page 44



 
 

 

Table 15: Adoption Scorecard Projections – three year average for 
2010-13 

 

Average time 
between a child 
entering care 
and moving in 
with its adoptive 

family, for 
children who 
have been 

adopted (days) 

Average time 
between a local 

authority 
receiving court 
authority to 

place a child and 
the local 
authority 

deciding on a 
match to an 

adoptive family 
(days) 

Children who 
wait less than 20 
months between 
entering care 
and moving in 
with their 

adoptive family 
(number and %) 

LA's 3 year 
average  
(2010-13) 

1,029 373 35 (51%) 

3 year trend - 
Improvement 
from 2009-12 
to 2010-13 

Average time in 
2010-13 was 
longer than in 

2009-12 

Average time in 
2010-13 was 
longer than in 

2009-12 

n/a 

England 3 
year average  
(2010-13) 

647 210 11,360 (55%) 

Distance 
from 2010-13 
performance 
threshold 

421 days 191 days n/a 

 

 
The target for the 2010 to 2013 was 20 months for the average time 
between a child entering care and moving in with their adoptive family 
(Indicator A1), for children who have been adopted. In 2013, LBHF did 
not meet this threshold and the average time in 2010-13 was longer than 
in 2009-12. 

 
The target for the 2010 to 2013 was six months for the average time 
between a local authority receiving court authority to place a child and 
the local authority deciding on a match to an adoptive family (Indicator 
A2). In 2013, LBHF did not meet this threshold and the average time in 
2010-13 was longer than in 2009-12. Performance was impacted upon 
by two children who had been fostered for ten years before being 
adopted by their carers. This led to the 10 year period being counted as 
the time it took for adoption to be achieved (even though for the first 9 
years adoption was not their plan – it was long term fostering).  We want 
to continue to adhere to what is best for a child and vigorously pursue 

Page 45



 
 

plans for permanency even when it is known that identifying or finalising 
a permanent placement will be a challenge and this could lead to a poor 
adoption scorecard. 
 
Indicator A3 measures the number and percentage of children who wait 
less than 20 months between entering care and moving in with their 
adoptive family (this threshold will reduce year on year as outlined below 
up to 2016.  Between 2010-2013 nationally, 55% of children waited less 
than 20 months between entering care and moving in with their adoptive 
family, LBHF (51%) had similar rates.   
 
National thresholds are to become more challenging year on year as 
below: 

 

Table 16: National changes to Adoption Scorecard Thresholds 

Financial years 
Indicator 1 threshold 

(months) 
Indicator 2 threshold 

(months) 

2010 to 2013 20 6 

2011 to 2014 18 5 

2012 to 2015 16 4 

2013 to 2016 14 4 

 
 

8. OUTCOMES FOR YOUNG PEOPLE LEAVING CARE 

8.1 Where young people remain in care until 18, a Pathway Plan is 
developed to identify the support that they will need to live independently 
as young adults. They are allocated with a Personal Adviser to guide 
them through this process. The key indicators for outcomes of care 
leavers are measured when they reach 19. These are the proportions of 
care leavers who are living in “suitable accommodation” and the 
proportions who are engaged in education, employment or training. The 
current performance of the borough in relation to these young people is 
as follows: 

 

Table 17: showing  Tri-borough care leavers data 

2013-14 Care leavers in 
suitable 
accommodation 
(provisional year 
end information) 

Care leavers in 
education, 
employment or 
training (provisional 
year end information) 

England 2012-13 88% 66% 

LBHF 68.2% 56.7% 

RBKC 88.4% 72.1% 

WCC 92% 67.9% 

 

Page 46



 
 

There is therefore room for improvement on performance in relation to 
Hammersmith & Fulham care leavers when outcomes are compared with 
those at the national level and elsewhere in Tri-borough. The service has 
recently been restructured under a Tri-borough Assistant Director who 
will be able to develop the service with reference to best practice in the 
two other boroughs and beyond. 

 
 
9. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

9.1 The Policy and Accountability Committee is invited to review and 
comment upon the information presented in this report. Further reports 
including more detailed analysis of particular issues can be provided at 
future Committee meetings as required. 

 
10. CONSULTATION 

10.1 No specific consultation has been carried out for the purposes of 
producing this report. However, it should be pointed out that consultation 
of service users is a major focus of our work and the views of children 
and young people and their families are used to inform our judgements 
of effectiveness of services as well as performance indicators. 

 
11. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 Equality and diversity issues are always taken into account when 
assessing a family where there are safeguarding concerns or identifying 
a potential placement for looked after children. There can also be 
equality implications in relation to the over or under-representation of 
certain groups with protected characteristics within these cohorts of 
children. Further reports in relation to this can be provided as required. 

 
12. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

12.1 There are no legal implications arising as a result of this report. 

12.2 Implications verified/completed by: Jade Monroe, Senior Solicitor, Social 
Care and Education, 020 8753 2695 

 
13. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no financial implications arising as a result of this report. 

13.2 Implications verified by: (Caroline Osborne, Tri Borough Head of 
Finance, Children's Social Care, 020 8753 1423) 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None.   

 

Page 48



 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
8 JULY 2014 

 

THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REQUIREMENTS IN THE CHILDREN AND 
FAMILIES ACT FROM SEPTEMBER 2014 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Andrew Christie, Executive Director of Tri-borough 
Children’s Services 
 

Report Author: Steve Comber, Tri-borough Policy Officer 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2188 
E-mail: 
steve.comber@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. The proposals within part three of the Children and Families Act represent 

some of the most significant changes to the way that services are 
delivered for young people with special educational needs (SEN) in the 
past 30 years.  
 

1.2. The key focus areas for these changes are as follows; 
 

• improving cooperation between all the services that support children 
and their families, particularly requiring local authorities and health 
authorities to work together. 

• replacing old statements of SEN with a new jointly assessed 
‘Education, Health and Care plan’, which is available for an extended 
age range (from birth to 25) with a key focus on outcomes; 

• placing families at the centre of the assessment and planning process 
for their child, encouraging a model based around ‘co-production’. 

• requiring local authorities and schools to publish a ‘Local Offer’ 
outlining the provision that is available for young people with SEN and 
disabilities; 

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



• and offering families personal budgets with which to purchase services. 
 

1.3. These changes are all due to come into effect from September 2014. We 
are taking a cross-sector tri-borough approach to preparing for the 
implementation of the proposals, maintaining a sovereign focus where 
necessary. 
 

1.4. In preparation for delivering the requirements of the Act, a Children and 
Families Act Strategic Implementation Group has been formed. The group 
includes representatives from the Education and Family Services 
Directorates, along with colleagues from Public Health, Adults’ Services 
and Communications.  
 

1.5. Representatives from local parents’ forums and third sector organisations 
have been integral to this work. This has been particularly important as a 
key element of the change in legislation relates to the enhanced role of 
parents and carers not only in planning for their own child but also more 
broadly in the commissioning of services for children with SEN. The 
changes arising from the Act will be fairly high profile and it is therefore 
important that the opportunity for engaging with parent groups in a 
structured way enables parents to have a voice and ownership of the way 
in which the changes that the Act brings are implemented over time and 
not least because the changes may bring anxieties for some parents. 
 

1.6. With support from the London Pathfinder authorities (Bexley and Bromley), 
a work plan has been developed by the group, which will ensure that each 
of the three boroughs manage the co-ordination of changes required to 
deliver the requirements of the Act from September 2014. This report 
details the key aspects of the implementation plan, split into two sections; 
those areas that must be addressed by September 2014; and those that 
can be developed and completed following September 2014. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. This report is an invitation for the committee to consider and comment on 
the contents of the strategic implementation plan. 
 

 
3. AREAS THAT MUST BE ADDRESSED BY SEPTEMBER 2014 

3.1. To produce this briefing, the key strategic guidance from within the Code 
of Practice has been quoted under each area (in italics). More detailed 
guidance underpins this strategic guidance and will be referred to by 
practitioners who are implementing each area. 
 

3.2. The first section of this briefing outlines the things that we must do to be 
compliant with our legal obligations and able to deliver the requirements of 
the Children and Family Act as per the statutory guidance in the Draft 

Page 50



special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years, 
which was published in April 2014. 
Development of a single assessment process resulting in an 
Education, Health and Care Plan 
 
Summary of what needs to be done 
 

3.3. From September 2014, Statements of SEN will be replaced by a single 
‘Education, Health and Care Plan’, which, dependent on the outcome of 
annual reviews, will run from birth to the age of 25. The content of this plan 
will be informed by a 20 week single assessment process, which involves 
parents and professionals from Education, Health and Social Care 
services.  
 

3.4. The resourcing of the plan will be based on the outcomes that the parent 
and child wishes to achieve on a short, medium and long term basis and 
will be sourced from the Local Offer and any additional and different 
provision as necessary. A child’s progression will then be reviewed on the 
basis of these outcomes and support will be adjusted accordingly. 
 
Key points from statutory guidance 
 

3.5. When carrying out their statutory duties under the Children and Families 
Act 2014, local authorities must do so with a view to making sure that 
services work together where this promotes children and young people’s 
wellbeing or improves the quality of special educational provision (Section 
25 of the Children and Families Act 2014). 
 

3.6. A local authority must conduct an assessment of education, health and 
care needs when it considers that it may be necessary for special 
educational provision to be made for the child or young person in 
accordance with the EHC plan. This is likely to be where the special 
educational provision required to meet the child or young person’s needs 
cannot reasonably be provided from within the resources normally 
available to mainstream early years providers, schools and post-16 
institutions. 
 

3.7. Local authorities, health agencies and other agencies must work with 
parents and children and young people to understand how best to 
minimise disruption in their family life. For example, multiple appointments 
should be co-ordinated or combined where possible and appropriate. 
 

3.8. Partners must also be clear about who is responsible for delivering what, 
who the decision makers are in education, health and social care, and how 
partners will hold each other to account in the event of a disagreement. 
The partners must be able to make a decision on how they will meet the 
needs of children and young people with SEN and disability in every case. 
 

3.9. The whole process of EHC needs assessment and EHC plan 
development, from the point when an assessment is requested (or a child 

Page 51



or young person is brought to the local authority’s attention) until the final 
EHC plan is issued, must take no more than 20 weeks. [Within this 20 
week timeframe there are specific deadlines for different stages of the 
planning process, which are outlined in the code of practice]. 
 

3.10. EHC plans must focus on how best to achieve the outcomes sought. They 
must refer to the evidence received as part of the EHC needs assessment. 
 

3.11. EHC plans must set out the education and training, health and social care 
outcomes that have been agreed with the child’s parent or young person 
and specify what support is to be provided to meet those outcomes. 
 

3.12. [There are specific sections that must be outlined within an EHC Plan; 
these are listed within the code of practice]. 
 
Progress so far 
 

3.13. A multi-agency group, which also included parent representatives from 
each of the three boroughs, met regularly during 2013 to investigate the 
implications of the guidance in the draft code of practice. Principles for 
change were agreed at this group and following this, a smaller, officer led 
group has been formed to lead on the development of resources required 
and the piloting of the single assessment process, prior to implementation 
in September 2014. 
 

3.14. At a recent monitoring visit, the DfE commented on progress and made 
the following recommendations: 

 

• Follow-through on your plans to trial the new assessment and planning 
process. Other local authorities have found trialling very important in 
developing their approaches, and there may be learning which they 
can share with you.  

• Develop a plan for the transfer of statements and Learning Difficult 
Assessments into Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans. 

 
High level action plan between now and September 2014 

 
Activity Lead(s) Date for completion 

Agree eligibility criteria for 
education, health and social care (0-
25) including a policy for which 
department funds which activities, 
taking into account ASC Fair Access 
to Care services criteria. 

Alison Farmer 
Isobel Date 
Richard Holden 
Marie Trueman 

July 2014 

Ensure that the criteria is affordable 
under the new High Needs Funding 
arrangements in each of the three 
boroughs. 

Dave McNamara 
Alison Farmer 

July 2014 

Design of Education, Health and 
Care Plan document for pilots, 
including method for implementing 

Clare Chamberlain 
Steve Comber / Ian 
Elliott 

Completed (see 
appendix 1 for draft) 

Page 52



an outcomes based approach to 
planning. Draft to be consulted on 
with parent reps. 

Pilot of single assessment process 
with selected families from across 
the three boroughs. 

Isobel Date 
Pilot to start on 16 
June. 

Engagement with schools to 
ensuring that they understand 
practice for the new single 
assessment process and integrate 
this within their systems. 

Karen Jones July 2014 

Define the three year transfer period 
for existing statements and write to 
parents with details about for their 
child(ren). 

Alison Farmer July 2014 

Agree a process for decision making 
on resourcing and a process for 
resolving disputes between 
departments. 

Alison Farmer September 2014 

Map current decision making panels 
and establish whether these can be 
combined, either on a tri-borough 
basis or incorporating decision 
making for education, health and 
social care. 

Isobel Date 
Berni Jennings 

September 2014 and 
beyond 

 
 

Production and publication of the ‘Local Offer’   
 
Summary of what needs to be done 
 

3.15. From September 2014 every local authority will be required to publish a 
‘local offer’ of services for young people with SEN and disabilities.  
 

3.16. Parents of children and young people with disabilities report that they often 
feel overwhelmed by the sheer volume of information available to them 
from differing sources and do not know where to start when searching for 
services that meet the needs of their child. 
 

3.17. The aspiration is for the local offer to address these issues by providing a 
single solution that is clear, comprehensive, relevant and transparent, and 
provides current information in a way that can be understood, accessed by 
all and most importantly that can be trusted.  
 

3.18. The offer should be developed in consultation with parents and be 
published in a single accessible format. 
 
Key points from statutory guidance 
 

3.19. Local authorities must publish a Local Offer, setting out in one place 
information about provision they expect to be available across education, 
health and social care for children and young people in their area who 

Page 53



have SEN or are disabled, including those who do not have Education, 
Health and Care (EHC) plans. 
 

3.20. Local authorities must make their Local Offer widely accessible and on a 
website. They must publish their arrangements for enabling those without 
access to the internet to get the information. They must also enable 
access for different groups, including disabled people and those with 
different types of SEN. 
 

3.21. Local authorities must involve children with SEN or disabilities and their 
parents and young people with SEN or disabilities in: 

 

• planning the content of the Local Offer 

• deciding how to publish the Local Offer 
 
Progress so far 
 

3.22. In January 2014, we launched a period of consultation with parents and 
carers of young people who have special educational needs and 
disabilities. Over 120 parents from across the Tri-borough area attended 
an event at Kensington Town Hall, where we outlined our current local 
offer for education, health and social care and launched the consultation 
process, which is looking at three key areas: 
 

• What has been parents’ experience of education, health and care 
assessments and planning to date?  

• What would help parents feel confident in the Tri-borough Education 
Health and Social Care Local Offer?  

• How would parents/carers and young people like to see the information 
about the Local Offer presented?  

 
3.23. All parents of children with special educational needs have been asked to 

complete an online survey that addresses these areas. In addition to the 
survey, the local support groups for parents have hosted two focused 
consultation events, enabling smaller groups of parents to share their 
thoughts directly with senior officers from Education, Health and Social 
Care teams from both Children’s Services and Adult Social Care.  

 

• Parents told us that they would value a dedicated point of contact (for 
instance, a key worker) to help them to access the Local Offer and that 
they would value clear and accessible Plain English guidance which 
uses consistent language across Education, Health and Social Care 
services. 

• Young people have also asked for a trained person who can help 
children and young people understand the contents of the Local Offer, 
for example a trained key worker. Young people would like the offer of 
more opportunities for volunteering and work experience and they 
believe that the offer should also include information on sports and 
activities available after school and at weekends and the provision of 

Page 54



safe venues and supported activities where they can meet their friends 
without family present. 

 
High level action plan between now and September 2014 

 
Activity Lead(s) Date for completion 

Collation of information from key 
services, presented in agreed 
format. 

Steve Comber June 2014 

Draft introductory sections for 
specific needs and age ranges.  

Steve Comber July 2014 

Ensure that information included or 
linked to in the final document 
satisfies the criteria set out in the 
Special Educational Needs and 
Disability Regulations 2014 

Steve Comber July 2014 

Work with corporate design team to 
present information for each 
borough in an accessible format that 
can be uploaded to all three 
websites. 

Steve Comber August 2014 

Ensure the availability of the Local 
Offer is communicated to key 
stakeholders 

Steve Comber September 2014 

Ensure that staff are trained to use 
the local offer as part of the single 
assessment process 

Alison Farmer September 2014 

 
 
Schools local offer  
 
Key points from statutory guidance 
   

3.24. Schools must work with the local authority in developing the Local Offer, 
which could include school-commissioned services. The school must set 
out its SEN policy and information on its approach to supporting children 
and young people with SEN. 
 
Progress so far 
 

3.25. Local authority officers have worked closely with two nominated SEN 
Coordinators, who are representing their colleagues from across the three 
boroughs, to produce a format for presenting the school local offer and 
develop a system for understanding the cost of the support they provide, 
so that it can be itemised in the new Education, Health and Care Plans.  
 
What are the next steps? 
 

3.26. The summer term will focus on the delivery of training to SENCOs from 
across the three boroughs so that they are confident in using the tools that 
have been developed and are able to publish the local offer for their 

Page 55



school, so that it can be used as part of the assessment and resource 
allocation process from September 2014. 
 
 
Provision of independent information, advice and support (including 
mediation for disputes with parents) 
 
Key points from statutory guidance 
 

3.27. Local authorities must arrange for children with SEN or disabilities for 
whom they are responsible, and their parents, and young people with SEN 
or disabilities for whom they are responsible, to be provided with 
information and advice about matters relating to their SEN or disabilities, 
including matters relating to health and social care6 Information, advice 
and support services should be impartial, confidential and accessible and 
should have the capacity to handle face-to-face, telephone and electronic 
enquiries. 
 

3.28. Local authorities must make the availability of disagreement resolution 
services known to parents, young people, headteachers, governing 
bodies, proprietors and principals of schools and post-16 institutions in 
their areas and should make them known to others they think appropriate. 
Details of the disagreement resolution arrangements must be set out in the 
Local Offer.  
 

3.29. This must include details for dispute resolution between service providers 
when agreeing the provision which goes into a plan (for example the LA 
and Health). 
 
Progress so far 
 

3.30. The three local authorities currently have a contract with KIDS to provide 
mediation for 15 cases per year. This contract has been extended to April 
2015.   
 

3.31. We have been advised that, across the three boroughs, we are likely to 
need mediation for 60-80 cases during the coming year. We have agreed 
to use implementation funding to fund mediation over and above the 
existing contracted provision in the first year of the legislation being in 
effect. This additional funding may be continued in the second year. This 
will enable us to understand the likely demand and cost of providing 
mediation under the new legislation in the longer term and, as a 
consequence, to establish a sustainable approach to funding this.  
 

3.32. We currently commission differing models of Parent Partnership services 
in each of the three boroughs, which will satisfy the requirements of the 
Act at the point of implementation in September.  
 

3.33. However, in the context of the new Code of Practice, it is considered that 
the models in each of the three boroughs should be reviewed. 

Page 56



 
High level action plan between now and September 2014 

 
Activity Lead(s) Date for completion 

Commission additional mediation 
support so that it is in place and 
available from September 2014 

Alison Farmer August 2014 

Commission an independent 
organisation (Contact a Family) as 
part of the pathfinder support 
programme to undertake a tri-
borough review of the models in 
each of the three boroughs and 
make recommendations on the 
future based on the new code of 
practice. 

Alison Farmer September 2014 

Investigate the remit for centrally 
funded Independent Parental 
Advisers in the London region and 
scope how their support will fit with 
this requirement. 

 September 2014 

 
 
Development of Personal Budgets 
 
Summary of what needs to be done. 
 

3.34. Personal Budgets are currently used in Social Care, allowing parents to 
choose how and when funding is spent for agreed short break provision.  
 

3.35. However, following the implementation of the proposals in September 
2014, parents of children with Special Educational Needs will be able to 
request personal budgets for their children - meaning they can potentially 
choose the support for their child, instead of local authorities being the 
sole provider. 
 
Key points from statutory guidance 
 

3.36. Local authorities must provide information on Personal Budgets as part of 
the Local Offer.  
 

3.37. This should include a policy on Personal Budgets that sets out a 
description of the services across education, health and social care that 
currently lend themselves to the use of Personal Budgets, how that 
funding will be made available, and clear and simple statements of 
eligibility criteria and the decision-making processes. 
 

3.38. Personal Budgets are optional for parents and young people but local 
authorities are under a duty to prepare a budget when requested. Local 
authorities must provide information about organisations that may be able 

Page 57



to provide advice and assistance to help parents and young people to 
make informed decisions about Personal Budgets. 
 

3.39. The Personal Budget can include funding from education, health and 
social care. However, the scope of that budget will vary depending on the 
needs of the individual the eligibility criteria for the different components 
and the mechanism for delivery. It will reflect local circumstances 
commissioning arrangements and school preference. The scope of 
Personal Budgets should increase over time as local joint commissioning 
arrangements provide greater opportunity for choice and control over local 
provision. 
 
Progress so far 
 

3.40. It is considered that this is an area that can be developed over time, as 
more joint commissioning is undertaken between Education, Health and 
Social Care. An officer led, Personal Budgets workstream has been set up 
to consider the impact of the legislation and what can reasonably be 
delivered from September 2014. 
 

3.41. At a recent monitoring visit, the DfE commented on progress and made 
the following recommendations: 

 

• Consider what, in a practical ways, can be offered to families through 
personal budgets from September, and how your approach can build 
over time as joint commissioning approaches develop. We discussed 
how the national pathfinder champions for personal budgets may be 
able to offer support, this can be accessed through the regional offer. 
Andrew Baxter, the Department’s personal budgets policy lead, is also 
happy to have a discussion on the phone if helpful. We understand that 
since our meeting you have arranged to work with In Control and 
London Councils to develop your approach to resource allocation and 
personal budgets and hope to be able to share this work with others. 

 
Areas to be addressed between now and September 2014 

 
Activity Lead(s) Date for completion 

Agree what services would be 
counted ‘in’ or ‘out’ for a personal 
budget for education, health or 
social care. 

Steve Buckerfield August 2014 

Work with Adult Social Care to 
understand what they have learned 
from delivering personal budgets, 
and ensure any learning is 
considered as part of Children’s 
Services developments. 

Steve Buckerfield September 2014 

Engage Health Education and 
Social Care finance staff work with 
In Control and London Councils to 
develop an approach to resource 

Steve Buckerfield September 2014 

Page 58



allocation and personal budgets. 

Monitor the on-going commissioning 
process for of a single tri-borough 
payment card solution and ensure 
Children’s Services are well 
positioned to take advantage of this 
once implemented. 

Steve Buckerfield 
Dave McNamara 
Terry Clark 

Dependent on length 
of commissioning 
process. 

Draft eligibility criteria (and 
thresholds) with parents & young 
people’s input 

Steve Buckerfield September 2014 

Agree and publish ‘phased 
approach’ to implementing Personal 
Budgets. 

Steve Buckerfield September 2014 

 
 
Frontline workforce development, including the provision of a 
service structure based around ‘key working’ 
 
Summary of what needs to be done 
 

3.42. To support the assessment process, the local authority will be required to 
implement a ‘key working’ approach. This approach will provide parents 
with a single point of contact throughout the assessment and planning 
process and was specifically requested on numerous occasions during the 
consultation with parents on the Local Offer.  
 

3.43. Key workers will help parents plan the outcomes that they want to achieve 
for their child on the basis of their assessment and then guide them 
through the options that they have to access provision in order to achieve 
these outcomes. 
 
Key points from statutory guidance 
 

3.44. Local authorities must arrange for children with SEN or disabilities for 
whom they are responsible, and their parents, and young people with SEN 
or disabilities for whom they are responsible, to be provided with 
information and advice about matters relating to their SEN or disabilities, 
including matters relating to health and social care. 
 

3.45. Local authorities should adopt a key working approach, which provides 
children, young people and parents with a single point of contact to help 
ensure the holistic provision and co-ordination of services and support. 
Key working may be provided by statutory services in health, social care 
and education, or by the voluntary, community, private or independent 
sectors. 
 
Progress so far 
 

3.46. A consultation is currently underway to restructure the Tri-borough SEN 
Service to deliver a service based on a key working approach. This will 

Page 59



result in job descriptions across the service changing and staff moving into 
new, more customer-focused roles.  
 

3.47. Key worker training has been commissioned from an organisation called 
Early Support. This training has been delivered to all SEN staff and is 
currently being rolled out to staff across Health and Social Care. 
 

3.48. At a recent monitoring visit, the DfE commented on progress and made 
the following recommendations: 

 

• Consider how you can best manage risks around workforce 
development within your SEND assessment teams, which is happening 
at the same time as the new legal duties commence. 

 
High level action plan between now and September 2014 

 
Activity Lead(s) Date for completion 

Reorganisation of the SEN Service 
to deliver a service based on a key 
working approach. 

Alison Farmer August 2014 

Deliver training to staff to ensure 
that key working approaches are 
implemented across Education, 
Health and Social Care 

Alison Farmer 
Clare Chamberlain 
Steve Buckerfield 

September 2014 

Ensure that a plan is developed to 
ensure sufficient (potentially 
temporary) capacity is available 
within the SEN teams following the 
reorganisation and leading into the 
implementation of the Act. 

Alison Farmer September 2014 

 
 
Communications 
 
Summary of what needs to be done 
 

3.49. The success of the implementation of the new requirements will be 
dependent on how well changes to process are communicated to key 
stakeholders. This will ensure that all levels of staff are aware of changes 
that have been implemented and how these affect their day-to-day roles; 
parents understand the changes that are taking place and their 
expectations are managed; and key stakeholders, such as schools and 
service providers are kept informed of developments, enabling them to 
‘come on the journey’ with us. 
 
High level action plan between now and September 2014 

 
Activity Lead(s) Date for completion 

Provide briefings for senior 
managers on the changes to 
legislation and the legal impact of 

Alison Farmer Complete 

Page 60



this 

Produce a regular newsletter for all 
stakeholders, outlining frequently 
asked questions, progress so far 
and upcoming key dates. 

Elizabeth Hibbs 

Regular newsletter, 
starting from July 
2014. (see appendix 
2 for example) 

General briefing sessions to be 
undertaken with frontline staff, 
outlining impact of the changes to 
their role. 

Kati Maskell 
From September 
2014 

Ensure the impact of the Act is fed 
into the Children’s Services 
Induction Programme 

Kati Maskell 
From September 
2014 

Children and Families Act to be a 
standing item on all headteacher 
meetings during 2014/15. 

Alison Farmer 
From September 
2014 

Equalities impact assessments to be 
developed to plan for and monitor 
the impact of the proposals. 

 
From September 
2014 

 

4. AREAS TO BE DEVELOPED AND COMPLETED FOLLOWING 
SEPTEMBER 2014 

4.1. This section outlines areas that, while not being fundamental to the 
delivery of the act from September 2014, will either add value to the 
service we provide or are required for the on-going delivery of the Act. 

 
 
Addressing the needs of the 16-25 cohort 
 
Summary of what needs to be done 
 

4.2. Currently, Statements of SEN run until the age of 16 (or 19 if the young 
person is in further education and has undergone and assessment that 
shows they still require support). The new Education, Health and Care 
Plan will run until the age of 25. There is therefore a greater focus on the 
local authority having access to adequate post 16 provision for young 
people with SEN and disabilities. 
 
Key points from statutory guidance 
 

4.3. There is no entitlement to continued support or an expectation that those 
with an EHC plan at age 18 must be allowed to remain in education or 
training from age 19 to 25. However, a local authority should continue to 
maintain an EHC plan for a 19-25 year old where all of the following 
conditions apply: 

 

• The education and training outcomes set out in their plan have not yet 
been achieved 

Page 61



• The young person wants to remain in education or training so they can 
complete or consolidate their learning, including accessing provision 
that will help them prepare for adulthood 

• Special educational provision is still needed 

• Remaining in education or training would enable the young person to 
progress and achieve those outcomes. 

 
Progress so far 
 

4.4. A specific workstream has been set up to look at the impact of the 
legislation on the 16-25 cohort and the work that needs to be undertaken 
to ensure that our post 16 offer for young people with special educational 
needs and disabilities is sufficient and of high quality. 
 

4.5. At a recent monitoring visit, the DfE commented on progress and made 
the following recommendations: 

 

• Seek ways to engage colleges and post-16 providers. We can put you 
in touch with NDTI, who can offer some advice on this if helpful. It is 
helpful to hear that you have now strengthened your arrangements to 
engage with post 16 providers. 

 
Plans for addressing requirement 

 
Activity Lead(s) Date for completion 

Develop a robust, transparent Local 
Offer of education, health and social 
care provision for 16-25 group 
& further identify and meet the gaps 
in the local offer for 16-25. 

Berni Jennings September 2014 

Map the post 16 cohort, showing 
needs projection for the next five 
years. 

Karen Jones September 2014 

Understand where the gaps are in 
educational provision and develop 
future provision on the basis of this  

Alison Farmer 
(additional support 
being commissioned 
for this) 

April 2015 

Develop a model for future post 16 
assessments and feed implications 
into commissioning process 

Alison Farmer 
Vikki Wilkinson 

September 2014 
Completion of new 
model by April 2015 

Transparent and clear eligibility 
criteria for Education, Health and 
Social Care Plan assessment at 16 
and 18/19 (linked to 1.1 single 
assessment process) 

Isobel Date 
Adult service leads 

September 2014 

Preparing for Adulthood: assessing 
where appropriate with clear 
outcomes in to adult life 

Berni Jennings 
September 2014 and 
beyond 

 
 
 
 

Page 62



Development of an online platform for the Local Offer and the 
completion of the EHC Planning process 
 
Summary of what needs to be done 
 

4.6. Although the local offer will be published in both hardcopy and electronic 
formats in September 2014, the vision for the offer is that it is an 
interactive resource that enables parents to be involved in decision making 
(self-referring in some instances) and provide real-time feedback on 
provision helping the LA and health partners develop their provision over 
time. 
 

4.7. In order to do this, a specific online solution will be commissioned. 
Eventually this online solution will be able to integrate with assessment 
processes, so that EHC plans are developed alongside the local offer and 
are available to parents for their input throughout the assessment process. 
 
Key points from statutory guidance 
 

4.8. The Local Offer should not simply be a directory of existing services. Its 
success depends as much upon full engagement with children, young 
people and their parents as on the information it contains. The process of 
developing the Local Offer will help local authorities and their health 
partners to improve provision. 
 
Plans for addressing requirement 
 

4.9. Based on the feedback we received during the consultation with parents 
on the Local Offer, a specification has been written for the online solution. 
We are now meeting with current Family Information Service providers in 
each of the three boroughs, as well as the Adult Services online directory 
provider (People First) to assess how well their Local Offer solutions could 
deliver against this specification. Once this research is completed, a 
commissioning process will be undertaken as required and the new 
system will begin to be developed. The intention is for this system to be 
online by September 2015. 
 
 
Continuous review of the Local Offer (including development of 
regular Young Person engagement) 
 
Summary of what needs to be done 
 

4.10. During the coming year, we will need to develop systems for continually 
evaluating the local offer and ensuring that this evaluation will feeds into 
the development of provision. This will require the evaluation outcomes to 
feed into processes across the children’s services department and those 
of our health partners (for instance, re-commissioning of services). The 
outcomes of the evaluations should also feed into a regular gap analysis 
highlighting where new provision needs to be developed.  

Page 63



 
Key points from statutory guidance 
 

4.11. Local authorities and their partner bodies and agencies must cooperate 
with each other in the development and review of the Local Offer. This is 
essential so that the Local Offer provides a comprehensive, transparent 
and accessible picture of the range of services available. 
 

4.12. Local authorities must consult children with SEN or disabilities, their 
parents and young people with SEN or disabilities in reviewing educational 
and training provision and social care provision and in preparing and 
reviewing the Local Offer. It is important that they participate effectively in 
decisions about support available to them in their local area. 
 

4.13. [On an annual basis] local authorities must publish [a summary of] 
comments about their Local Offer received from or on behalf of children 
with SEN and disabilities and their parents and young people with SEN 
and disabilities. 
 

4.14. Comments must be published if they relate to: 
 

• the content of the Local Offer, which includes the quality of existing 
provision and any gaps in the provision 

• the accessibility of information in the Local Offer 

• how the Local Offer has been developed or reviewed 
 
4.15. At a recent monitoring visit, the DfE commented on progress and made 

the following recommendations: 
 

• Develop your approach to engaging children and young people in the 
reforms. You felt you could share some learning from Hounslow.  

 
Plans for addressing requirement 
 

4.16. A key activity will be to develop a process for engaging regularly with 
young people. It is proposed that, in the first instance, this is done via the 
use of existing young people forums, ensuring that the Local Offer and 
Special Educational Needs are given a higher priority on agendas. We will 
also feed into regular existing engagement mechanisms for young people 
– for instance the annual Children and Young People survey – and 
structured engagement via trained staff in special schools. 
 

4.17. In order to ensure that the local offer is accessible to young people and 
that they have a voice from September 2014, we are planning to develop a 
series of ‘day in the life’ films, so that young people can demonstrate how 
accessing services within the offer has an impact on their lives. 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Joint Commissioning with Health 
 
Summary of what needs to be done 
 

4.18. Local authorities and health bodies must have joint commissioning 
arrangements in place to plan and commission education, health and 
social care services jointly for children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities. 
 
 
Key points from statutory guidance 
 

4.19. Joint commissioning should be informed by a clear assessment of local 
needs6 The Health and Wellbeing Board must ensure a joint strategic 
needs assessment (JSNA) of the current and future needs of the whole 
local population is developed. The JSNA will form the basis of NHS and 
local authorities’ own commissioning plans, across health, social care, 
public health and children’s services. 
 

4.20. The NHS Mandate, which local CCGs must follow, contains a specific 
objective on supporting children and young people with SEN and 
disabilities, including through the offer of personal budgets. 
 

4.21. Joint commissioning arrangements must cover the services for 0-25 year 
old children and young people with SEN or disabilities, both with and 
without EHC plans. Services will include specialist support and therapies, 
such as clinical treatments and delivery of medications, speech and 
language therapy, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 
support, occupational therapy, habilitation training, physiotherapy, a range 
of nursing support, specialist equipment, wheelchairs and continence 
supplies and also emergency provision. 
 

4.22. Local authorities, NHS England and their partner CCGs must make 
arrangements for agreeing the education, health and social care provision 
reasonably required by local children And young people with SEN or 
disabilities. 
 

4.23. Local joint commissioning arrangements must include: 
 

• Securing EHC assessments 

• Securing the education, health and care provision specified in EHC 
plans 

• And agreeing Personal Budgets 
 
4.24. Local joint commissioning arrangements must consider: 
 

• what advice and information is to be provided about education, health 
and care provision for those who have SEN or are disabled and by 
whom it is to be provided 

Page 65



• how complaints about education, health and social care provision can 
be made and are dealt with, and 

• procedures for ensuring that disagreements between local authorities 
and CCGs (and NHS England for specialist services) are resolved as 
quickly as possible 

 
4.25. Information about these matters must be reflected in the Local Offer. 

 
4.26. Designated Medical / Clinical Officer 

Partners should ensure there is a Designated Medical Officer (DMO) to 
support the CCG in meeting its statutory responsibilities for children and 
young people with SEN and disabilities, primarily by providing a point of 
contact for local partners, when notifying parents and local authorities 
about children and young people they believe have, or may have, SEN or 
disability, and when seeking advice on SEN or disabilities. This does not 
alter the CCG’s responsibility for commissioning health provision. 
 

4.27. The DMO provides the point of contact for local authorities, schools and 
colleges seeking health advice on children and young people who may 
have SEN or disabilities, and provides a contact (or contacts) for CCGs or 
health providers so that appropriate notification can be given to the local 
authority of children under compulsory school age who they think may 
have SEN or disabilities. The DMO can support schools with their duties 
under the ‘Supporting Pupils with Medical Conditions’ guidance. The DMO 
would not routinely be involved in assessments or planning for individuals, 
except in the course of their usual clinical practice, but would be 
responsible for ensuring that assessment, planning and health support is 
carried out. Some CCGs may delegate key decisions to the DMO (for 
example, agreeing the health services under the EHC plan). 
 

4.28. The DMO should have an appropriate level of clinical expertise to enable 
them to exercise these functions effectively, and should be designated as 
a DMO in their job description. There may be one DMO for several CCGs 
and local authorities, where there are joint commissioning arrangements or 
shared commissioning responsibilities, and given the range of EHC plans 
from birth to 25, the DMO may need to liaise with colleagues outside of 
paediatrics. 
 

4.29. This is a non-statutory role which would usually be carried out by a 
paediatrician, but there is local flexibility for the role to be undertaken by a 
suitably competent qualified and experienced nurse or other health 
professional (in which case the role would be the Designated Clinical 
Officer). The person in this role should have appropriate expertise and 
links with other professionals to enable them to exercise it in relation to 
children and young adults with EHC plans from the age of 0 to 25 in a wide 
range of educational institutions. 
 

4.30. Partnerships with children, young people and parents 
Local authorities, CCGs and NHS England must develop effective ways of 
harnessing the views of their local communities so that commissioning 

Page 66



decisions on services for those with SEN and disabilities are shaped by 
users’ experiences ambitions and expectations. 
 

4.31. Each CCG must exercise its functions to secure that individuals to whom 
the services are being, or may be, provided are involved in planning 
commissioning arrangements, in the development and consideration or 
proposals for change and in decisions affecting the operation of 
commissioning arrangements where implementation would have an impact 
on the Manner in which services are delivered or the range of services 
available. 
 

4.32. Responsibility  
There must be clear decision making structures so that partners can agree 
the changes that joint commissioning will bring in the design of services. 
Partners must also be clear about who is responsible for delivering what, 
who the decision makers are in education, health and social care, and how 
partners will hold each other to account in the event of disagreement. 
 
Plans for addressing requirement 

 
Activity Lead(s) Date for completion 

Drawing up the Health ‘local offer’ Marie Trueman August 2014 

Ensuring that the 18 – 25 Health 
offer is drawn up 

Steve Buckerfield, 
Peter Beard & 
Caroline Maclean 

August 2014 

Ensuring that Health are able to 
respond to requests for a personal 
health budget 

Steve Buckerfield August 2014 

Ensuring that a DMO is in place for 
Sept 2014 

Nicky Brownjohn Sept 2014 

Ensuring that joint commissioning 
arrangements are in place 

Andrew Christie and 
Daniel Elkeles  

Sept 2014 

Ensuring that local Child 
Development Team are able to 
contribute health assessments for 
EHC plans 

Chelsea & West 
Hosp. Trust and 
Imperial Hospital 
Trust 

Sept 2014 

 
 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1   This report clearly outlines the key legal implications under the headings 
“key points from statutory guidance” and these paragraphs can be found at 
3.5-3.12, 3.19-3.21, 3.24, 3.27-3.29, 3.36-3.39, 4.3, 4.8, 4.11-4.15, 4.19-
4.32.  
 

5.2   Implications completed by Joyce Golder, Principal Solicitor, Bi-borough 
Legal Services (020 7361 2181) 
 
 
 

 

Page 67



6. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The funding for Special Educational Needs provision is contained  within 
the High Needs Block (HNB) of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The 
budget for the HNB in 2014/15 is £16.396m. 

 
6.2 The Children and Families Act extended the age range from birth to 25 

years. The extended age range provision has increased the pressure on 
the HNB.  Detailed budget monitoring and forecasting models have been 
developed to ensure early identification of any budget pressures within the 
HNB.  

 
6.3 Implications verified/completed by: Dave McNamara, Director for 

Children’s Services Finance and Resources. 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None.   

 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Draft Education, Health and Social Care Plan 

Appendix 2 – July 2014 Edition of the Newsletter (to follow) 

 

Page 68



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

APPENDIX 1

DRAFT  

FOR CONSULTATION 

EDUCATION, 

HEALTH AND CARE 

PLAN 
 

 

This is [NAME OF CHILD]’s plan 

 

This plan has been completed by [NAME OF KEYWORKER] 

 

* Practitioner note: delete logos as appropriate 

Page 69



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

2 

 

 

SECTION 1: PERSONAL DETAILS 

 

* Name: 

 

 

 

* Date of Birth: 

 

 

 

* Gender:  

* Home address: 

 

 

 

* Ethnicity 

 

 

 

Religion:  

 

* Name of parent(s)/person(s) with 

parental responsibility/Next of Kin: 

 

 

 

Address: 

 

 

 

Telephone: 

 

 

 

Email address: 

 

 

 

 

* Who I live with  

(if different from 

above): 

 

Address: 

 

 

 

 

* Local authority ID 

number: 

 

 

 

* Legal status: 

 

 

 

* Current nursery / 

school / college / 

place of work. 

 

 

 

 

* mandatory field 

Page 70



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

3 

 

 

ALL ABOUT ME (Code of Practice ref Sec A) 

 
Date plan agreed:  

 

 

Scheduled review date: 

 

 

This must be within 12 months of the date on which 

the final plan was agreed, or within 12 months of the 

last review date. 

Version number:  

 

My full name is:  

Insert photo here I like to be called:  

 

Things I like: Things I dislike: 

  

I communicate by: My hopes and dreams are: 

  

Important things you need to know 

about me: 
People can help me by: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

About my family: 

Page 71



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

4 

 

 

SECTION 2: MY CURRENT NEEDS 
 

My Strengths (for the parent / carer to complete) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Education, Health and Social care needs 

 

My assessed needs. This section should be agreed between the parent / carer and 

worker, considering any learning, communication, personal, social and emotional 

and physical and sensory needs. There is a parent / child view box for parents / 

young people to record their views if these differ from those agreed.  

 

Education needs 

(Code of Practice 

ref Sec B) 

 

Parent / carer / 

young person 

view 

 

Health needs 

(Code of Practice 

ref Sec C) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Parent / carer / 

young person 

view 

 

Page 72



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

5 

 

Social Care needs 

(Code of Practice 

ref Sec D) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Parent / carer / 

young person 

view 

 

 

The professional support that [NAME] currently receives is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[NAME]’s support network (e.g. family, community) is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

6 

 

SECTION 3: OUTCOMES, GOALS AND ACTION PLANNING (Code of Practice ref Sec E) 
 

HEALTH 

Long term outcome   

Goals for the next 12 

months: 
 

ACTIONS RESOURCES 

What will the actions be? 
How often will they 

happen? 

Who will support and 

monitor them? 
What is needed? 

Where is this coming 

from? 

     

     

     

     

     

 
EDUCATION 

Long term outcome  

Goals for the next 12 

months: 
 

ACTIONS RESOURCES 

What will the actions be? 
How often will they 

happen? 

Who will support and 

monitor them? 
What is needed? 

Where is this coming 

from? 

     

P
age 74



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

7 

 

     

     

     

     

 
 

SOCIAL CARE 

Long term outcome  

Goals for the next 12 

months: 
 

ACTIONS RESOURCES 

What will the actions be? 
How often will they 

happen? 

Who will support and 

monitor them? 
What is needed? 

Where is this coming 

from? 

     

     

     

     

     

 
 

 

 

P
age 75



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

8 

 

SECTION 4: EDUCATION, HEALTH AND CARE RESOURCES 

 
To be linked to outcomes in section three that have resources that are funded by Education, 

Health or Social Care services from the local authority. Personal budgets and direct payments to 

be included as a summary in an appendix to this plan (Code of Practice ref Sec J). 

 

*Funding Source to include joint funding arrangements 

 

EDUCATION (Code of Practice ref Sec F) 

Outcome requiring 

additional resource 
Education provision 

Funding* 

source 

Proposed 

allocation 
Date agreed 

     

     

 

 

 

Total £  

 

 

HEALTH (Code of Practice ref Sec G) 

Outcome requiring 

additional resource 
Health provision 

Funding* 

source 

Proposed 

allocation 
Date agreed 

     

     

 

 

 

Total £  

 

 

SOCIAL CARE (Code of Practice ref Sec H1 and H2) 

Outcome requiring 

additional resource 
Social care provision 

Funding* 

source 

Proposed 

allocation 
Date agreed 

     

     

 

 

 

Total £  

 Overall total 

 

£  

 

Page 76



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

9 

 

 

 

[NAME]’s EDUCATION PLACEMENT (Code of Practice ref Sec I) 

Name of setting 

 

At draft stage, this section must be left blank, so that a parent / carer can 

state their preference when draft is sent to them. 

 

Type of setting 

 

 

 

Start date 

 

 

 

End date 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

10 

 

 

SECTION 5: AGREEING THE PLAN 

 
Authorised officer for Education: 

 

 

 

 

Date: 

Authorised officer for Health: 

 

 

 

Date: 

Authorised officer for Social Care: 

 

 

 

Date: 

 

 

PEOPLE WHO HAVE CONTRIBUTED TO THIS EDUCATION HEALTH 

AND CARE PLAN 

 
Name of 

contributor 
Role 

How did they 

contribute? 

Date of 

contribution 

 Parent      

 Child / Young Person   

 School / Education   

 Health   

 Educational Psychologist   

 Family Services   

 
Other (please state): 

 
  

 

Page 78



DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

VERSION 5 

 

11 

 

 

APPENDIX:  

 

REPORTS AND LINKED ASSESSMENTS THAT SUPPLEMENT THIS 

PLAN (Code of Practice ref Sec K) 

 
 

REPORT / ASSESSMENT 

TITLE 
REPORT AUTHOR DATE SUBMITTED 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

 

Page 79



 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION  
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
8 JULY 2014 

 

WORK PROGRAMME AND FORWARD PLAN 2014-2015 
 

Report of the Director of Law 
  

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Review & Comment 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Jane West, Executive Director of Finance and 
Corporate Governance 
 

Report Author: Laura Campbell,  
Committee Co-ordinator 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2062 
E-mail: laura.campbell@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1   The Committee is asked to give consideration to its work programme for 

the forthcoming year.  
 
1.2   Details of the Key Decisions which are due to be taken by the Cabinet at 

its next meeting are provided in Appendix 1 in order to enable the 
Committee to identify those items where it may wish to request reports. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1   The Committee is asked to consider its proposed work programme, 

subject to update at subsequent meetings of the Committee. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 80

Agenda Item 10



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 - Key Decision List 

Page 81



 

 

 

NOTICE OF CONSIDERATION OF A KEY DECISION  
In accordance with paragraph 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the Cabinet hereby gives notice of 
Key Decisions which it intends to consider at its next meeting and at future meetings. The list 
may change between the date of publication of this list and the date of future  Cabinet meetings. 

 

NOTICE OF THE INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN 

PRIVATE  
The Cabinet also hereby gives notice in accordance with paragraph 5 of the above 
Regulations  that it intends to meet in private after its public meeting to consider Key Decisions  
which may contain confidential or exempt information.  The private meeting of the Cabinet is 
open only to Members of the Cabinet, other Councillors and Council officers.  
 
Reports relating to key decisions which the Cabinet will take at its private meeting are indicated 
in the list of Key Decisions below, with the reasons for the decision being made in private.  Any 
person is able to make representations to the Cabinet if he/she believes the decision should 
instead be made in the public Cabinet meeting. If you want to make such representations, 
please e-mail  Katia Richardson on katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk.  You will then be sent a 
response in reply to your representations. Both your representations and the Executive’s 
response will be published on the Council’s website at least 5 working days before the Cabinet 
meeting. 

 
KEY DECISIONS PROPOSED TO BE MADE BY CABINET ON 14 JULY 2014 AND 
AT FUTURE CABINET MEETINGS UNTIL 6 OCTOBER 2014 
 

The following is a list of Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to take at the 
above Cabinet meeting and future meetings. The list may change over the next few 
weeks. A further notice will be published no less than 5 working days before the date of 
the Cabinet meeting showing the final list of Key Decisions to be considered at that 
meeting.  
 
KEY DECISIONS are those which are likely to result in one or more of the following: 
 

• Any expenditure or savings which are significant (ie. in excess of £100,000)  in 
relation to the Council’s budget for the service function to which the decision 
relates; 

 

• Anything affecting communities living or working in an area comprising two or 
more wards in the borough; 

 

• Anything significantly affecting communities within one ward (where practicable); 
 

• Anything affecting the budget and policy framework set by the Council. 
 
The Key Decisions List will be updated and published on the Council’s website on a 
monthly basis.  
 

NB: Key Decisions will generally be taken by the Executive at the Cabinet.  
 

If you have any queries on this Key Decisions List, please contact 
Katia Richardson on 020 8753 2368  or by e-mail to katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Appendix 1

Page 82



 

 

 
 

 
Access to Cabinet reports and other relevant documents 

 
Reports and documents relevant to matters to be considered at the Cabinet’s public meeting 
will be available on the Council’s website (www.lbhf.org.uk) a minimum of 5 working days 
before the meeting. Further information, and other relevant documents as they become 
available, can be obtained from the contact officer shown in column 4 of the list below.  

 
Decisions 

 
All decisions taken by Cabinet may be implemented 5 working days after the relevant Cabinet 
meeting, unless called in by Councillors. 
 

 
Making your Views Heard 

 
You can comment on any of the items in this list by contacting the officer shown in column 4. 
You can also submit a deputation to the Cabinet. Full details of how to do this (and the date by 
which a deputation must be submitted) will be shown in the Cabinet agenda. 
 

 
 
LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM: CABINET 2014/15 
 
Leader:         Councillor Stephen Cowan  
Deputy Leader:        Councillor Michael Cartwright  
Cabinet Member for Children and Education:    Councillor Sue Macmillan  
Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration: Councillor Andrew Jones  
Cabinet Member for Finance:      Councillor Max Schmid  
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care:   Councillor Vivienne Lukey  
Cabinet Member for Housing:      Councillor Lisa Homan  
Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion:     Councillor Sue Fennimore  
Cabinet Member for Environment,Transport & Residents Services: Councillor Wesley Harcourt  
 
 
 
 
Key Decisions List  No. 21 (published 19 June 2014) 

Page 83



 

 

KEY DECISIONS LIST - CABINET ON 14 JULY 2014 
The list also includes decisions proposed to be made by future Cabinet meetings 

 
Where column 3 shows a report as EXEMPT, the report for 

this proposed decision will be considered at the private Cabinet meeting. Anybody may make 
representations to the Cabinet to the effect that the report should be considered at the open 

Cabinet meeting (see above).  
 

* All these decisions may be called in by Councillors; If a decision is called in, it will not be capable of 
implementation until a final decision is made.  

 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

July 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Housing Asbestos Surveys 
 
Re-tender of contract for Housing 
Asbestos Surveys, Sampling & 
Monitoring.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Stephen Kirrage 
Tel: 020 8753 6374 

stephen.kirrage@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Proposed Outsourcing of 
Commercial Property 
Management Function 
 
Lot 1 of New Property Contract.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Miles 
Hooton 
Tel: 020 8753 2835 

Miles.Hooton@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 84



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Adult Learning & Skills Service  
-  Provision of specialist IT 
services 
 
This report seeks approval for 
expenditure related to the 
provision of specialist 
Management Information Services 
(MIS) for the Council’s adult 
learning service (Adult Learning & 
Skills Service; ALSS). The Tribal 
Group Ltd is a specialist education 
information software and services 
business supplier and has been 
satisfactorily delivering the MIS 
since 2007.  
 
The MIS enables ALSS to track 
individual learners’ progress, 
accreditation and qualifications as 
well as submit funding claims to 
the Skills Funding Agency (SFA), 
a division of the Department for 
Business Innovation & Skills. The 
SFA grant to the Council’s adult 
learning & skills service annually 
exceeds £2.8m. Accurate 
monitoring and accountancy is a 
compulsory requirement for 
performance management, 
continued funding and adherence 
to Ofsted standards.  
 
The Tribal Ltd MIS contract is 
currently valued at £75,924 pa.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult 
Social Care 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Kim 
Dero 
Tel: 020 8753 6320 

kim.dero@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 85



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Street Lighting Programme 
 
Seeking approval for the 2014/15 
planned capital street light column 
replacement programme, and 
maintenance work on highway 
assets. 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transpor
t & Residents 
Services 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Hawthorn 
Tel: 020 8753 3058 

ian.hawthorn@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Property Asset Data 
Management - Proposed Call-
Off 
 
Seeking approval to a proposed 
call-off contract. 
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Maureen McDonald-
Khan 
 

maureen.mcdonald-
khan@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Future of Coverdale Road 
Residential Care Home 
 
The report will make 
recommendations and share 
outcomes regarding the 
consultation on the future of 
Coverdale Road - which is an H&F 
run residential care home for 
people with learning disabilities in 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult 
Social Care 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Christine Baker 
Tel: 020 8753 1447 

Page 86



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Shepherds Bush.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Christine.Baker@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Royal Mail UK: supplier of Tri-
Borough Lot 1 (outgoing mail) 
 
To approve the appointment of 
Royal Mail UK to supply the 
service of providing outgoing mail 
to the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham, the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea and Westminster City 
Council  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Sue 
Seal 
Tel: 020 7361 3211 

sue.seal@rbkc.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

3rd Sector Investment Fund 
allocation report 
 
This report seeks Cabinet 
agreement for allocation of the 
LBHF 3rd Sector Investment Fund. 

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 

Reason: 
Expenditure 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 

Page 87



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

more than 
£100,000 
 

Officers recommend funding 
across 8 service areas, for funding 
terms between 17 and 41 months.  
 
 
 
 
 

 will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Contact officer: Sue 
Spiller 
Tel: 020 8753 2483 

sue.spiller@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Draft Charging Schedule 
(DCS) consultation 
 
CIL is a tool to help fund 
infrastructure to support 
development and will be charged 
on most new development 
schemes that create net additional 
floorspace, subject to a number of 
exemptions and reliefs. Once 
established, CIL will run alongside 
Section 106 agreements (S106s) 
which will continue to operate 
where it is necessary to make 
developments acceptable.  
 
The CIL DCS consultation is the 
2nd stage of public consultation in 
the process that will lead to the 
introduction of CIL charges. The 
1st public consultation stage took 
place in September 2012. 
Consultation is proposed for 9 
weeks from July to September 
2014.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transpor
t & Residents 
Services 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Rob 
Kryszowski 
 

rob.kryszowski@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Tri-borough Corporate Services 
Review Report 
 
This report describes the 
recommendation and business 
case to establish a Tri-borough 
Corporate Service including an 
Executive Director re-organisation, 
Tri-borough ICT, Tri-borough 
Procurement, Tri-borough Legal, 
Tri-borough Revenues & Benefits 
and Bi-borough Customer 
Services function.  
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jane 
West 
Tel: 0208 753 1900 

jane.west@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 88



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Options Appraisal in Respect of 
an Alternative Provision Bi-
Borough Pupil Referral Unit 
(PRU) 
 
To outline the need for a Bi-
borough PRU (LBHF/RBKC)and 
discusses the property issues 
associated with that proposal.  
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Heggs 
Tel: 020 7745 6458 

ian.heggs@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Speech and Language Therapy 
Services - Extension of Service 
Level Agreements (2014-2016) 
 
Requests agreement to extensions 
to the Service Level Agreement’s 
(SLA’s) for speech and language 
therapy services for 2014 - 2016. 
The extenions are required to 
enable a procurment exercise to 
be completed.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mike 
Potter, Margaret 
Murphy 
Tel: 020 8753 2045 

mpotter@westminster.gov.u
k, 
Margaret.Murphy@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Maintaining Compliance with 
Public Services Network Code 
of Connection 
 
The Council needs to implement a 
solution for managing the risk from 
unmanaged user devices that is 
compliant with the Public Services 
Network Code of Connection.  
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Howell Huws 
Tel: 020 8753 5025 

Howell.Huws@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 89



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

papers to be 
considered. 
 

September 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

84 - 90 Fulham High Street. 
Lifting of restrictive covenant 
 
To remove a restrictive covenant 
for 28 affordable houses which 
benefits the Council in lieu of a 
financial payment of £1.8m by the 
landowner/ developer to 
implement to current consent.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Palace Riverside 
 

Contact officer: 
Maureen McDonald-
Khan 
 

maureen.mcdonald-
khan@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Commissioning Strategy - 
Careers Information Advice and 
Guidance for young people with 
learning difficulties & 
disabilities and Tracking & 
Surveys 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Page 90



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

 These services will support the 
delivery of Statutory 
Responsibilities to:-  
 
Monitor and track all young people 
16 – 19, as detailed in Section 68 
of the Education and Skills Act 
2008; and  
 
Assess children and young 
people, who are eligible for an 
Education, Health and Care plan 
(by providing the specialist 
knowledge of post 16 options) The 
Children and Families Act 2014.  

Contact officer: Tony 
Young 
Tel: 0207 361 2035 

tony.young@rbkc.gov.uk 

 

of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Change ICT service desk 
supplier and provision 
 
At the end of the HFBP service 
contract the Council will need to 
transition all ICT services to other 
suppliers. By changing the service 
desk earlier than contract expiry, 
H&F will be able to reduce the 
effort, costs and risk and align to 
the one team Tri-borough. This 
paper recommends an early 
transition from the current service 
desk provider to the new service 
desk provider by calling off the Tri-
borough framework contract which 
has the benefit of providing a 
consistent user experience for 
staff.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jackie 
Hudson 
Tel: 020 8753 2946 

Jackie.Hudson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 91



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Tri-borough procurement of key 
IT services 
 
This report seeks approval by 
Cabinet for the funding of a 
contribution to the cost of 
undertaking the procurement of 
key Tri-borough IT services, in line 
with the Tri-borough ICT strategy. 
This will lead ultimately to cost 
reductions within IT across the 
three boroughs and also act as a 
key enabler for Tri-borough 
services to make their savings.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jackie 
Hudson 
Tel: 020 8753 2946 

Jackie.Hudson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

50 Commonwealth Avenue 
 
Approval to sell 50 Commonwealth 
Avenue as it is surplus to 
requirements and is not suitable 
for letting as substantial repairs 
are required.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Wormholt and White 
City 
 

Contact officer: 
Marcus Perry 
Tel: 020 8753 6697 

Marcus.Perry@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Transfer of 5 properties from 
Environment, Leisure and 
Residents’ Services (ELRS) to 
Housing (HRA) 
 
Approval is sought to transfer the 
properties from ELRS to Housing, 
and thus requiring appropriation 
from General Fund (GF) to the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Palace Riverside; 
Ravenscourt Park; 
Sands End 
 

Contact officer: Manjit 
Gahir 
Tel: 020 8753 4886 

Manjit.Gahir@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 92



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Youth Services 2015-2018 - 
contract extension and 
Commissioning Strategy 
 
A report seeking approval to 
extend existing youth service 
contracts until 30 September 2015 
and the Commissioning strategy 
for Youth Services 2015-2018.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Lucy 
Pite 
 

Lucy.Pite@lvhf.gog.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Corporate Revenue Monitor 
2014/15 month 2 
 
Forecast Revenue Outturn 
position at end of month two. 
Requests for budget virements.  
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jane 
West 
Tel: 0208 753 1900 

jane.west@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 93



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Extension and re-tender 
recommendations for Insurance 
contracts 2015 
 
This report seeks approval to 
extend five of seven contract lots 
for insurance for two years in 
accordance with the contractual 
terms at last procurement in 
2012.These allow the Council, at 
its sole discretion, to extend the 
contract terms by a period of up to 
two years until 31st March 2017.  
 
This report seeks approval to re-
procure two of seven contract lots 
for insurance to improve service 
delivery and assurance.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Andrew Lord 
Tel: 020 8753 2531 

andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

October 

Cabinet 
 

6 Oct 2014 
 

ASC Information and 
Signposting Website - People 
First 
 
Discussions and decision around 
rolling out the People First ASC 
information and signposting 
website to LBHF. Currently 
operational in RBKC and WCC.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult 
Social Care 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mark 
Hill 
 

mark.hill2@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 94



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

6 Oct 2014 
 

Draft Hammersmith and Fulham 
Local Plan – Approval of 
consultation document 
 
The Core Strategy and 
Development Management Local 
Plan are being revised in order to 
include new policies for the part of 
the Old Oak area that is within 
H&F. The opportunity is being 
taken to combine the 2 separate 
documents into one document but 
many existing policies remain 
largely unchanged.  
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Transport and 
Technical Services 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Pat 
Cox 
Tel: 020 8753 5773 

pat.cox@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 95


	Agenda
	3 Membership and Terms of Reference
	5 Passenger Transport Service
	7 Executive Director's Update
	8 Safeguarding and Looked After Children Performance Information Report on Activity During 2013-14
	9 The Implementation of the Requirements in the Children and Families Act from September 2014
	Appendix 1

	10 Work Programme
	Appendix 1


